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The past two years saw a massive change in the world. 
Abruptly, we were thrusted into a drastically different 
environment, and had to constantly adapt to the ever-
changing restrictions. 
 
Even so, STPI held on to our spirit of collaboration and 
experimentation. With this in mind, and with our firmly-
rooted foundation supporting us, the question was: what 
else can we do to continually foster this spirit?
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We started to look at ways of doing things differently, 
stemming from this pocket of opportunity afforded to 
us from the disruption caused by the pandemic. From 
presenting our first-ever viewing room experience, to 
orchestrating four discrete artist residencies and one 
curatorial voice into an exhibition, this year was a year 
of CREATING NEW      AVES.
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 Now that we are entering a new year, steadier and more 
ready than before, we are ready to take what it means to 
be a truly experimental and collaborative creative space 
to the next level in the coming years ahead. 
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 With the support from the many partnerships—and 
indeed, friendships—we have forged over the years, 
with many more to come, we look forward to seeing 
what the future holds. 
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Jason Lim, Calming Separation 1 (detail), 2021
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Charles Lim Yi Yong, Staggered Observations 4 (detail), 2021

Mission

STPI seeks to develop Singapore as 
a leading player in the contemporary 
art world by collaborating with top 
international artists in unique, ground-
breaking projects. Through its artist 
collaborations, artworks, exhibitions 
and public programmes, STPI engages 
both international and local art 
communities, with the aim of inspiring 
and developing an appreciation of print 
and paper art practice.

Vision

STPI is a global leader in contemporary 
art practice with print and paper, 
creating unique and quality artworks in 
collaboration with leading artists from 
around the world.
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13

INTRODUCTION



Core Values 

CREATIVE & 
DIVERSE

COLLABORATIVE  
& NURTURING

BOLD & 
DYNAMIC
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Chair’s Foreword

2021 was a year where STPI’s board and management 
invested a great deal of time to undertake organisational 
introspection, solidify STPI’s identity, and map out strategies 
for a maturing STPI’s continued sustainable growth. In the 
last 19 years since its establishment, STPI has been on a 
growth path, expanding its footprint globally in the art 
world while staying true to the mission of our Visiting Artists 
Programme, taking it to greater heights of achievement, 
both in terms of the range of artist engagement and artistic 
innovations. Now, STPI is at a threshold.

As the world gradually emerged from the pandemic, we are 
keenly aware that much has changed and continues to evolve 
in all aspects of life, from geopolitical shifts to economic and 
social recalibration, from lifestyle and aspirational changes 
to new perceptions of vulnerabilities in our societies – the 
art world has had to adapt to these changes. These present 
not just an impetus but also an opportunity to reinvent 
ourselves to remain relevant and to continue to thrive in the 
evolving environment. 
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On the strategic side, we have refocused our mission, and put 
in place changes to achieve it. One significant development on 
this front is the establishment of the Content and Curatorial 
Committee. This committee, chaired by our director Mr. 
Lito Camacho and comprising members who have diverse 
expertise in the art world—artists, collectors and more—
is tasked to provide strategic guidance and share subject 
matter knowledge pertaining to curatorial direction, our 
Visiting Artists Programme, Gallery exhibitions, participation 
in art fairs, and developments and trends in the visual arts 
ecosystem.  

On the operational side, STPI has significantly strengthened 
its bench strength at the senior management level as well 
as prioritise the well-being and development of staff, so 
that we have a well-equipped and properly skilled team in 
tandem with STPI’s growth. STPI has also embarked on a 
digitalisation project, where it will undergo a major digital 
transformation for our key processes, production capabilities 
and customer engagement.  

To cultivate a new generation of audience and professionals 
for the art industry (more specifically, for contemporary print 
and papermaking), we have also been conducting outreach 
with tertiary art schools, with activities such as an industry 
introduction to printmaking, in-class consultations sessions, 
exposure to niche printmaking techniques and more. These 
initiatives require investment of time and commitment across 
STPI. The Board is grateful to the management and staff 
for their dedication and efforts in this process. We believe 
that these measures will put STPI in good stead to face the 
challenges and reap the opportunities for years to come.
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Susan Kong 
Chairman, STPI 
 

STPI could not have gotten this far without the trust of 
the Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth, our donors, 
patrons and unwavering supporters. My gratitude goes out 
to all members of the STPI team and my Board as well, for 
your trust and dedication in STPI’s journey through the 
years.

On the corporate governance front, STPI’s planned Board 
renewal process has been completed with addition of two 
new directors, Mr. Lito Camacho and Ms. Koh Lin-Net, and 
the retirement of Mr. Kenneth Choe and Ms. Wong Ai Ai. On 
behalf of STPI and the Board, I would like to thank Kenneth 
and Ai Ai for their significant contributions to STPI, and also 
welcome Lito and Lin-Net, whose experience and expertise 
as well as their love for art will add immensely to the Board’s 
strength and diversity.

With STPI’s can-do spirit, the desire for innovation and 
positive responses to change, as well as its keen sense of 
exploration into new creative ventures, I am in anticipation 
of seeing how STPI will continue to have a significant impact 
in inspiring a greater sense of appreciation of the arts 
both locally and internationally, and to bolster Singapore’s 
thriving arts ecosystem.

Jason Lim, Ellipsis (detail), 2021
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Executive  
Director’s Message

In 2021/2022, we witnessed an unprecedented drive to 
connect and provide art to a global audience. There was an 
extraordinary rise and expansion of new art forms, buyers 
and markets—mostly in the digital sphere. Following the 
austere circumstances of the previous year, we seized the 
opportunities of a revitalised world by resuming programmes 
in the Creative Workshop & Gallery. 

STPI Creative Workshop hosted artists Charles Lim, Han 
Sai Por, Jane Lee, Genevieve Chua and Yanyun Chen, who 
reignited a much-needed creative energy for our space. 
This familiar spirit of collaboration demonstrated how 
such precious physical interactions cannot be replaced by 
wholly digital means. The outcomes of Charles’ and Sai 
Por’s residencies culminated in two compelling exhibitions 
this year, highlighting the many possibilities that an STPI 
residency can bring to an artist’s practice.

STPI Gallery extended collaborations to guest curators and 
specialists from various fields: botanists, climate activists, 
linguists, botanical ink-makers and more for our exhibition 
and public programmes. We were also present at (albeit 
remotely) Art Basel in Basel, Frieze London and FIAC Paris to 
ensure Singapore’s presence on the international art circuit.  
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Emi Eu 
Executive Director, STPI 

The 4th edition of S.E.A. Focus at Tanjong Pagar Distripark 
saw 25 galleries from home and abroad coming together 
in creating a dynamic art experience despite the border 
closure, once again confirming our resilience and reliability. 
The possibilities for what can be done with this platform are 
numerous as Singapore returns to normalcy and re-opens to 
the world at large. 

Finishing the year, we are looking into developing our 
environmental, social and governance arms more strongly. As 
an arts organisation, we are committed to being responsible 
and contributing to these principles in a significant way. 

My sincere gratitude goes to our Board members for their 
invaluable guidance and advice, the MCCY team for their 
ever-steady support, as well as each member of the STPI 
team for their dedication. Most importantly, thank you, our 
loyal supporters, for your unwavering belief in the work that 
we do at STPI.

Ian Woo, Steps (detail), 2021
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ORG NISATION
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STPI is a dynamic creative workshop and 
contemporary art gallery based in Singapore. 
Established in 2002, STPI is a non-profit 
organisation committed to promoting artistic 
experimentation in the mediums of print 
and paper and has become one of the most 
cutting-edge destinations for contemporary 
art in Asia. STPI sits alongside National Gallery 
Singapore and the Singapore Art Museum 
as part of the national Visual Arts Cluster of 
leading institutions in the region.
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Ms Susan Kong

Ms Susan Kong has served as the Chairman of STPI since 2019. Prior to that, 
she was a member of STPI’s board since 2007. She is a founding partner of 
Q.E.D. Law Corporation. She has extensive working experience in banking 
and finance, corporate finance, and foreign investments particularly in 
China, Indonesia and Thailand; mergers and acquisitions, restructuring 
and real estate investments. She is listed in several legal publications as 
a leading lawyer. Ms. Kong has also served as a director on the boards of 
several companies across different industries in Singapore and Thailand. 
She is currently an independent director of SBS Transit Limited and a 
board member of HealthServe Limited.

Chair

BOARD

Ms Chong Siak Ching
Ms. Chong Siak Ching was appointed to the board of STPI in 2013. She has 
been the Chief Executive Officer of National Gallery Singapore and Head 
of the Visual Arts Cluster, Singapore since April 2013. Prior to this, she 
was the President and CEO of Ascendas from 2001 and was recognised as 
Outstanding CEO of the Year in the Singapore Business Awards 2009 for 
her leadership and dynamism in establishing Ascendas as Asia’s leading 
provider of business space. She is a Director on the Board of Mandai Park 
Holdings Pte Ltd and the Chairman of the Yong Siew Toh Conservatory of 
Music Governing Board. She was appointed as Justice of the Peace in 2013 
and is currently Singapore’s Non-Resident Ambassador to the Republic of 
Chile. She was conferred the rank of Chevalier de l’Ordre des Arts et des 
Lettres by the French Ministry of Culture in 2020. 
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Mr Lito Camacho
Mr. Lito Camacho was appointed to the board of STPI in 2021. He is a Vice Chairman 
for Asia Pacific at Credit Suisse AG, the Non-Executive Chairman of SunLife of 
Canada (Philippines) Inc., a member of the International Advisory Panel of the 
Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (China), and a board member to several other 
business organisations in the region. Lito and his wife are avid art collectors and 
are both members of the Asia Pacific Acquisition Committee of the Tate Modern in 
London. He is also a member of the Acquisition Committee of the National Gallery 
Singapore, and a former board member of the National Gallery Singapore and 
National Heritage Board. He was recently conferred the Public Service Medal by 
the President of Singapore for his service to the National Gallery Singapore and 
the promotion of arts in Singapore.

Mr. Nathaniel P. Gunawan was appointed to the board of STPI in 2020. He is the 
Director of Oasis Waters International, a leading consumer goods company which 
is a national manufacturer & distributor of ready-to-drink water in Indonesia. He 
has a background in private investments, starting his career at Morgan Stanley and 
then in a family office, overseeing its public equities portfolio. He is also the Co-
Founder & Director of Phoenix Films, a content investment company focusing on 
production and distribution of Indonesian & Southeast Asian films, with its latest 
project winning the Golden Leopard at the 2021 Locarno Film Festival, the first 
Indonesian film to do so. 

Mr Nathaniel Gunawan
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Mr Low Eng Teong

Ms Koh Lin-Net

Mr. Low Eng Teong was appointed to the board of STPI in 2018. He is currently the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Sector Development) in the National Arts Council (NAC) where he 
oversees the policies, planning and implementation of key strategies and initiatives for 
Singapore’s visual, literary and performing arts sectors. Under his care, he also oversees 
the development of policies and programmes to bring quality arts education to schools, 
as well as the establishment of training and career pathways for arts practitioners and 
supporting the development of arts and culture leaders.  Mr. Low previously served in 
Singapore’s education service where he held senior leadership positions in schools as well 
as in curriculum planning and development. This included the setting up of the Ministry 
of Education’s Arts Education Branch that is responsible for the arts curriculum and co-
curriculum in Singapore schools. He is a board member of the Singapore Art Museum and 
the Nanyang Academy of Fine Arts. 

Ms. Koh Lin-Net was appointed to the board of STPI in 2021. She is currently the Director of 
the Centre for Impact Investing and Practices in Temasek Trust Ltd, an appointment she has 
held since April 2021. Prior to this role, Ms. Koh held concurrent appointments as the Chief 
Executive of two foundations under the Temasek family.  She joined Temasek Foundation in 
2016 after spending more than 20 years in the Administrative Service, which is part of the 
Singapore Civil Service.  During this time, she held a wide range of positions, including as 
the Deputy Secretary in the then Ministry of Information, Communications and the Arts, and 
Ministry of Trade and Industry, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Media Development 
Authority.  She sits on the Board of the School of the Arts, Singapore, and the Asia Pacific 
Advisory Board of Harvard Business School.
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Mr Irving Low

Mr Sam Kok Weng

Mr. Irving Low was appointed to the board of STPI in 2018. He is a partner in KPMG in Singapore 
and has been with KPMG for over 29 years, having worked in both the London and Singapore 
offices. As the Co-Head of Advisory (Singapore and Indonesia), he is responsible for the Advisory 
businesses and practices across Management Consulting and Risk Consulting. Irving sits in the 
firm’s Senior Executive Committee which oversees the firm’s strategic and operational excellence. 
His key area of practice is in corporate governance, where he is also the KPMG APAC Leader for 
Board Advisory Services. In 2018, he was also appointed to the Advisory Board for the School of 
Accountancy for the Singapore Management University. In addition, Irving is a member of CPA 
Australia Sub-committee for the Public Sector.

Mr. Sam Kok Weng was appointed to the board of STPI in 2020. He is a partner with PwC 
in Singapore where he holds dual roles: Markets Leader and Financial Services Leader. He 
was also the Markets Leader for PwC in Asia Pacific for several years. He is also the Deputy 
Chairman of the Insolvency & Restructuring Practitioners Committee, a member of the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Panel of ISCA, a board member of WorkWell Leaders Ltd as 
well as Alexandra Health Fund Limited, a member of the Advisory Board of the School of 
Accountancy in Singapore Management University, and a volunteer docent with National 
Gallery Singapore.
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Mr Tan Chuan Yong
Mr. Tan Chuan Yong was appointed to the Board of STPI in 2020. He is an Advocate & Solicitor 
in Singapore, and is the managing partner of Tan Kim Seng & Partners since 2020.  Mr. Tan’s 
areas of practice are in Singapore property, finance and banking laws.  Mr. Tan serves on the 
Board of The Private Museum, Singapore and on the School Advisory Committee of Hillgrove 
Secondary School and was appointed by the Chief Justice to the Inquiry Panel under the Legal 
Profession Act (Cap. 161).  He was previously a Vice-President of the Singapore Association 
for the Deaf and a tutor for the Board of Legal Education, Singapore. 
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MANAGEMENT

Emi Eu 
Executive Director

Rita Targui 
Director - STPI Gallery

Betty Lock
Chief Operating Officer & 
Chief Financial Officer

Lucinda Seah 
Director (Planning & Development)

Oh Thiam Guan 
Head of Projects

Brian Garner 

Head of Workshop  

& Master Printer 

(Last working day: 08 May 2022)

Jaime Tay 
Assistant Director (Projects)
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CREATIVE 
WORKSHOP

Oscar Larrea 
Fabricator & Assistant Papermaker

Chong Li Sze 
Senior Printer

Gordon Koh 
Assistant Project Leader &  

Senior Papermaker

Miyuki Chida 
Senior Fabricator & Printer

Oh Thiam Guan 
Head of Projects

Awaluddin Masnor 
Papermaker
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CREATIVE 
WORKSHOP

Derrick Ng 
Printer

Qamarul Asyraf 
Assistant Printer 

Tan Tai Tien 
Senior Papermaker

Richard Phua 
Assistant Digital Imaging 

Specialist
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GALLERY

Ho See Wah 
Assistant Manager 

(Content & Communications)

Alex Lam 
Senior Graphic Designer

Joanne Ng 
Assistant Manager  

(Sales & Admin)

Augustine Sim 
Manager (Sales & Admin) 

(Last working day: 09 May 2022)

Amaryllis Puspabening 
Executive 

(Outreach & Public Programmes)

Kavern Tan 
Senior Executive  

(Registrar & Sales)

Yang Xiuting 
Senior Instructor 

(Education & Outreach Programmes)

Yom Bo Sung 
Senior Executive  

(Registrar & Sales)

Toni Cuhadi 
Senior Photographer

Rita Targui 
Director - STPI Gallery
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PROJECTS, 
PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT

Lucinda Seah 
Director  

(Planning & Development)

Debby Lim 
Senior Manager  

(Projects & Operations)

Charmaine Ng 
Senior Executive  

(Projects & Operations)

Jaime Tay 
Assistant Director 

(Projects)
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES
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Stephanie Khew 
Manager (HR & Admin); 

PA to Executive Director

Ma Xiang Yao 
Assistant Manager (Finance)

Stanley Pok 
Head of IT 

Wong Fuat Jun 
Senior Executive (Finance & HR)

Zuraifi Mohamed Saifollah 
Assistant Manager (Facilities) 

(Last working day: 30 Apr 2022) 

Tan Yee  
Head of Corporate Services 

(Last working day: 28 Jun 2022)

Betty Lock
Chief Operating Officer & 
Chief Financial Officer
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The STPI Creative Workshop is a 
rigorous space for artists to experiment 
with various print and papermaking 
techniques.

Bolstered by specialised facilities and 
a highly qualified workshop team, 
STPI Creative Workshop produces 
unique collaborations with leading 
international artists to challenge 
conventions in art, explore new 
trajectories in their practice and share 
their experience with the public.

About STPI Creative Workshop

Visiting 
Artists
Programme
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Artists Collaborations

STPI’s programme is centered around 
our artists collaborations. The dynamic 
exchange between the artist and the 
STPI Creative Workshop team provides 
a stimulating environment for new 
creative possibilities and the realisation 
of projects that very often mark new 
trajectories in the artist’s practice. 

Visiting artists live in the guest quarters 
of STPI, with convenient access to the 
Artist’s Studio and Creative Workshop. 
By the end of the collaboration, works 
are exhibited and catalogued for 
appreciation and sale.
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Zul Mahmod

April 2021
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April 2021
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Han Sai Por

September 2021
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Jane Lee

October 2021
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Genevieve Chua

November 2021 – February 2022
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Yanyun Chen

March 2022

*This photo was taken before covid-19
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STPI Gallery is an active platform that fosters 
the exchange of ideas in contemporary 
art with its diverse exhibitions and public 
programmes. The gallery hosts specially 
curated exhibitions of works produced in 
the STPI Creative Workshop and regularly 
participates in international fairs. This 
enables it to nurture and sustain local 
and international interest in both its 
collaborators and in the mediums of print 
and paper. The gallery’s public programmes 
aims to engage and broaden visitor 
understanding of contemporary art, while 
exchanges with a variety of international 
curators, collectors and gallerists provide 
a holistic experience for audiences on a 
global level.

About STPI Gallery

EXHIBITIONS
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25 April – 11 May 2021

Of Waters is presented as part of Galleries Curate: RHE. 
RHE (from Greek for that which flows) is a platform for 
exhibitions, performances, and public interventions that 
loosely address the theme of water—geographically, 
politically, economically or metaphorically. Involving 
projects with twenty-one galleries, both online and on-
site, RHE was conceived to span regions, markets, cultures, 
and audiences around the world, circulating both within 
and outside of traditional white-box exhibition spaces.

In Dialogue with Suzann Victor and Marc Gloede 
Exhibiting artist Suzann Victor and Guest Curator 
Marc Gloede discuss the exhibition and how the 
element of water echoes across the artist’s body of 
work; flowing through the audiences’ senses.

Guided Tours Conducted by docents from Friends 
of the Museums, our guided tours provide members 
of the public insights into our exhibitions and an 
exclusive look into our Creatve Workshop. 

Q1

Galleries Curate: RHE  
Suzann Victor: Of Waters
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Re_ by STPI is a series of multi-platform viewing rooms. It brings 
together a selection of works from STPI’s inventory, placing them in 
new constellations for us to relook at them in fresh contexts. These 
take place on our website and Artsy, as well as in-person. In the spirit 
of re-presenting these artworks in new situations, our first 3 viewing 
rooms took place at the dynamic ArtSpace @ HeluTrans from 18 June 
to 26 July 2021.

In this manner, our Re_ viewing rooms invites our audience to Re_Visit, 
Re_View and Re_Connect with us.
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18 June – 30 June 2021Q1

RE_Present 
In material, immaterial: 
Jane Lee, Pinaree 
Sanpitak, Shirazeh 
Houshiary

Throughout human history, artists 
have always been drawn to nature 
for inspiration. But where nature and 
culture are put in opposition, we forget 
that we are part of the landscape, too. 
The artists—Jane Lee, Pinaree Sanpitak, 
Shirazeh Houshiary—all look to their 
surroundings, as well as inwards, for 
inspiration. In their conceptual gestures, 
no binaries are drawn, no distance 
is carved between the human and 
everything else. Through the artworks in 
In material, immaterial, we invite you to 
reconnect with the phenomenological 
approach of encountering the world, 
and ourselves in it.
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2 July – 14 July 2021Q2

RE_Visit 
Close to Home

Close to Home presents eminent artists in the 
Indonesian art scene: Jumaldi Alfi, Eko Nugroho, 
Handiwirman Saputra, Melati Suryodarmo, Entang 
Wiharso, Srihadi Soedarsono and Sunaryo Soetono. 
From modern painting to performance art, from 
the personal and cultural to the universal and 
philosophical, the practitioners here demonstrate 
the plurality of practices and artistic concerns arising 
from the archipelago. In this manner, Close to Home 
is an ode to the distinct utterances of the country’s 
energetic artistic landscape. 
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6 July – 26 July 2021 Q2

RE_Examine 
Neurotic Metropolis: 
Hema Upadhyay, 
Shambhavi Singh, 
Thukral & Tagra

Though the way that this has manifested across 
various political, social and economic landscapes 
differ from place to place, some key features have 
been lauded as a positive output of the phenomena: 
dreams of modernity and a utopian urban lifestyle.

On the flipside, moreover, remains the stark realities 
of current-day globalisation. In the work of three 
Indian artists/artist duo, Hema Upadhyay, Shambhavi 
Singh, and Thukral and Tagra, a cogent examination 
of globalisation’s underbelly takes place. 
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In Dialogue with Shambhavi Singh, Thukral & Tagra 
and Shireen Gandhy

Shambhavi Singh, Thukral & Tagra and Hema 
Upadhyay’s gallerist Shireen Gandhy of Chemould 
Prescott Road gallery conversed on how the 
artworks created at STPI relate to the complexities of 
contemporary globalisation, and how this is revealed 
through scrutinising its impact on India.
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8 August – 5 September 2021Q2

RE_Play 
Satire as Commentary

Satire—the use of humour, wit, irony and exaggeration 
to reveal the shortcomings of its subject matter—
is a widely-used mechanism by artists to articulate 
their concerns. Incisively delivering pertinent critique 
behind its comical veneer, satire is a potent tool that 
is at once engaging and accessible, yet revelatory and 
analytical in its examination of the issues at hand. At 
STPI, past residency artists have similarly employed 
this technique in the works created during their time 
here, of which a selection is presented for Satire as 
Commentary.
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8 August – 5 September 2021Q2

 
Pae White 
Friendship is Magic

An ode to chance occurrences and creative 
collaborations forged in Singapore.

Friendship is Magic is a solo exhibition by prolific 
Los Angeles-based artist Pae White. Having arrived 
in Singapore for an STPI residency in 2018, the artist 
allowed herself to be guided by the space, people, 
food, presented opportunities and Singapore itself. 
These factors informed the multiple series of works 
realised through chance and collaboration with 
the Creative Workshop team. Such encounters 
and relationships provided her with a profound 
experience whose effects carry forward till today. It 
is this connection and closeness that forms the basis 
of Friendship is Magic.
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In Dialogue with Pae White and Rory Padeken

The artist is joined by Rory Padeken, Curator at San 
José Museum of Art in a deep-dive into the artist’s 
practice; spotlighting her material experimentations 
that reveal the everyday and the forgotten.
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25 September – 24 October 2021

Curated by Marc Gloede, On Time inspects the role of 
time in the artists’ production period during their STPI 
residency, as well as the experience of time during and 
of an exhibition. The range of works on view spans 
print to sculpture, relief to installation, and address 
the impact of time on manifold levels. They invite the 
audience to encounter and reflect on the facet of time 
that is most obviously embedded in the artworks: the 
time of production. They further consider the role of the 
audience’s engagement and ask: how much time are we 
spending with each work and how might our perception 
of it change over time?

Q3

On Time 
Adeline Kueh,  
Jason Lim, Ian Woo  
and Zul Mahmod
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In line with highlighting the audience’s encounter of 
an exhibition in time, a curatorial decision was made 
to refresh the layout of the exhibition every other 
week, which produced a total of three different 
iterations throughout On Time’s one-month run.

Artist-led Workshops Workshops led by Adeline Kueh, 
Jason Lim and Zul Mahmod, designed for the public 
to gain insight into the artists’ practice and creative 
processes. 

Panel Discussion Alongside guest curator Marc Gloede, 
the artists invite the audience to inspect and reflect on 
the facet of time that is most obviously embedded in the 
artworks: the time of production, and how it affects the 
viewer’s  experience.  

Multiple curator-led tours throughout the exhibition 
guided by Marc Gloede
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9 November – 5 December 2021

Curated by Jason Wee, The Lines Fall Where They May 
is an exhibition on mark-making and the delicate, 
faint signs of nonhuman life and environments. It 
centres on two recent bodies of print works created at 
STPI’s workshop – the Edibles series of sap-drenched 
pressings by Berlin- and Seoul-based artist Haegue 
Yang, a continuation of her previous engagement 
at STPI with perishable plant-based foods; and 
copper- and ink-embossed paper works by Indian 
artist Prabhavathi Meppayil, who completed six sets 
of geometries (each comprising eight individual 
prints), three sets of which are exhibited. The Lines 
Fall Where They May also features the works of 
six other artists: Ghada Amer & Reza Farkhondeh, 
Genevieve Chua, Amanda Heng, Lin Tianmiao and 
Suzann Victor, most of which were created during 
their residency with STPI.

Q3

The Lines Fall Where 
They May
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In Dialogue with Amanda Heng and 
Jason Wee A dialogue session between 
artist Amanda Heng, and artist, writer 
and curator Jason Wee. It takes Heng’s 
residency at STPI as a starting point, 
where she collaborated with 12 individuals 
from STPI.

In Dialogue with Genevieve Chua and 
Jason Wee A dialogue session between 
artist Genevieve Chua and artist, writer 
and curator Jason Wee. The discussion 
sheds light on how Chua thinks through 
abstraction.

71

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



72

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



17 December 2021 – 6 February 2022

Since 2005, Charles Lim Yi Yong’s ongoing project 
SEA STATE examines the biophysical, political and 
psychic contours of Singapore through the visible and 
invisible lenses of the sea. Staggered Observations of 
a Coast extends on this vigorous enquiry and centres 
on the idea of “staggered observations” as an entry 
point for accessing the exhibition’s propositions.

For half a year, Lim sailed all along the east coast 
anchorage of Singapore. Professionally trained in 
sailing, the artist applied his sense of staggered 
observation during these trips, which is the process 
of taking note of the wave patterns and clouds, 
allowing for the passage of time to occur, and finally, 
re-looking at the same points so as to note the 
changes. More than just utilising the visual sense, 
there is also an instinctual and tactile component 
involved, where one could feel and “taste” the air 
to gauge the humidity. Together, these observations 
allowed for Lim to “see” the wind, an invisible space, 
through scrutinising the information from other 
sources.

Q3

Charles Lim Yi Yong 
Staggered Observations 
of a Coast
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In Dialogue with Charles Lim Yi Yong and Dr. 
Elizabeth Wijaya Alongside guest writer Dr. Elizabeth 
Wijaya, Assistant Professor of East Asian Cinema at 
the University of Toronto, the artist reexamines his 
ongoing project SEA STATE and its expansions.

Hereafter: Youth-led Forum  How do we build a place 
that has seemingly been built beyond its edges? 
In STPI’s very first youth-led forum, homegrown 
environmental activists contemplate the complexities 
of land reclamation in Singapore, an issue central to 
the exhibition.

Jiwa Pulau, Jiwa Laut (Spirit of the Island, Spirit of the 
Sea) An intimate session featuring two descendants 
of the Orang Pulau community, Asnida Daud and 
Firdaus Sani that shed light on two of Singapore’s 
Southern islands through personal anecdotes, beliefs, 
island traditions and poetry readings.
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Inkmaking Workshop with Wild Dot, Boo 
Chih Min and Charles Lim Yi Yong 

A workshop held in collaboration with 
Wild Dot, a botanical ink-making studio 
that specialises in making paints and 
artworks with natural pigments found 
across Singapore. Co-led by botanist Boo 
Chih Min and the artist himself.

Film Screening: All Lines Flow Out and The 
Islands That Made Us   

This screening brought “All Lines Flow Out”, 
a film directed by Lim which was awarded 
a Special Mention at the Venice Film 
Festival, and “The Islands That Made Us: 
The Forgotten Islands”, a documentary that 
explores the social and cultural histories of 
Singapore’s southern islands.
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19 February to 27 March 2022

This group exhibition draws on the idea of the poetic 
image, and how (oft-overlooked or transient) spaces 
can suddenly penetrate us with considerable emotions 
without warning nor reason. The exhibited artworks thus 
function as both explicatory notes on various types of 
spaces, as well as physical markers – notes and nodes 
embedded in the space of the gallery.

Our Corner of the World: Public Spaces,  
Shared Souls 

Urbanist Sarah Ichioka, author Esther Vincent and 
editor and artist Diana Rahim enquired how our 
public spaces shape our private and collective 
consciousness, and explored the significance of 
shared spaces for diverse communities.

Hands-on Workshop: Poetry in Print 

Public participants are invited to experiment 
with print and verse using gelli plate monoprint 
and a vintage typewriter.

Q4

Notations in Space
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HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTS
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ART FAIRS

In addition to our in-house exhibitions, 
art fairs are a crucial platform for STPI 
Gallery to raise awareness on the unique 
and collaborative work that we do in 
our creative space. It is also provides 
the opportunity to raise Singapore’s 
flag high on renowned international 
platforms.

Donald Sultan, Oranges on Branches (detail), 2002
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14 – 28 May 2021 New York

Presenting the print works of two iconic 
American artists, Donald Sultan and Trenton 
Doyle Hancock.

Q1

IFPDA Fine Art Print Fair
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19 – 21 May 2021Q1

Featuring works by Heman Chong, 
Genevieve Chua, Do Ho Suh and 
Haegue Yang. 

Art Basel  
Hong Kong 2021
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An innovation stemming from the 
pandemic, STPI Executive Director Emi 
Eu was one of the first people to beam 
in as a hologram into the fairgrounds. A 
special viewing room was curated with 
5 works by Haegue Yang and Genevieve 
Chua on display. Emi did 4 sessions of 
Holo-meet during ABHK – 3 sessions on 
19 May and 1 session on 20 May. Each 
session was fully attended. Emi also 
virtually introduced Takashi Murakami 
via hologram to an audience at ABHK.
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17 – 20 June 2021Q1

Featuring a solo presentation by Heman 
Chong.

As part of this OVR, we hosted an artist 
talk entitled “Drawing Out Information: 
A Conversation with Heman Chong”.

Art Basel OVR: Portals 

Heman Chong, Foreign Affairs #171 (detail), 2018
84

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



STPI participated in the 2nd online 
project launched by the SOUTH SOUTH 
platform titled I draw, therefore I think 
curated by artist and curator Jitish 
Kallat. This drawing project is prompted 
by Charles Darwin’s 1937 sketch Tree 
of Life in which he scribbled down a 
framework for his speculations in his 
first “transmutation notebook”.

SOUTH SOUTH: I draw, 
therefore I think

21 – 26 Sep 2021Q2

Rirkrit Tiravanija, Untitled, 2016 (The double moon at noon, Darwin’s 
dilemma) (detail), 2016
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21 – 26 Sep 2021

On the fairgrounds, the gallery presented 
key works by art world giants Jason 
Martin (UK), Anri Sala (Albania/France) 
and Haegue Yang (South Korea/Germany) 
Online on ‘OVR: Basel’, stunning works on 
paper by Do Ho Suh (South Korea/UK) 
was highlighted.

Q2

Art Basel, Basel 2021 
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Haegue Yang, Turmeric Sheets Composition (detail), 2021
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At the 2021 edition of Frieze London, STPI presented 
24 key works by Sam Durant, Jason Martin, Haegue 
Yang, Heman Chong and Genevieve Chua. To further 
engage online audiences, STPI participated in the 
Online Viewing Room to showcase the artists and 
their works garnering a total of 118 views, with Haegue 
Yang and Jason Martin leading with a total of 35 and 
32 views respectively.  

15 – 17 Oct 2021Q3

Frieze London
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At the 2021 edition of FIAC, STPI presented 6 key 
works by Anri Sala, Haegue Yang and Jason Martin. To 
further engage online audiences, STPI participated in 
the Online Viewing Room to showcase the artists and 
their works garnering a total of 103 views.

21 – 24 Oct 2021Q3

FIAC Paris
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The theme of S.E.A. Focus 2022 is ‘chance…constellations’ 
– an exploration of the shared histories, geographies and 
converging cultures that connect the artistic community 
in this region. The audience were treated to a refreshing 
blend of in-person and digital experiences, which included 
a physical exhibition at Tanjong Pagar Distripark and 
exciting online programmes featuring virtual travels to 
international art spaces, access to industry experts and 
STPI Gallery participated with the works of Hong Zhu An.

15 – 23 Jan 2022Q4

S.E.A. Focus 2022
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Key Highlights
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THE 10TH ASIA 
PACIFIC TRIENNIAL OF 
CONTEMPORARY ART 
(APT10)

Genevieve Chua’s Artificially Intelligent 
(2021) premiered as part of the 10th Asia 
Pacific Triennial of Contemporary Art 
(APT10).

Produced at STPI, the work stems from 
her interest in computer algorthims within 
the high-tech context of contempoary 
Singapore. These graphic works resemble 
non-linguistic concrete poems, constructed 
from non-alphanumeric characters on a 
computer keyboad.

For Chua, these punctuation marks create a 
sense of rhythmic notation. Removed from 
the syntax of sensible text, their visual form 
is amplified, repeated on the pictorial plane 
to form grids, arcs and radials, or to drift or 
stutter down the page.
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Hope from Chaos:
Pandemic Reflections

Presented at Heman Chong’s solo show ‘Peace 
Prosperity And Friendship With All Nations’ at 
STPI in February 2021, Circuit Breaker Paintings 
(2020) was selected for the group exhibition 
Hope from Chaos: Pandemic Reflections at 
ArtScience Musuem. The exhibition presents 
a deeply evocative, meditative and personal 
encounter with the stories and practices of 
artists, who offer us insights into their lives and 
work during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Marking every day of the 2020 Singapore circuit 
breaker (7 April 2020 – 1 June 2020), Chong 
reworked his paintings by painting them over 
with a ‘X’ motif, which replicates the tapes used 
during social distancing measures, on one canvas 
a day to form his Circuit Breaker Paintings. 
While this daily task of painting parallels the 
rituals that people took up to ease their anxiety, 
this act also reinterrogates his painting practice 
and presents an artefact of our times.
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PUBLIC
PROGRAMMES
& COMMUNITY
OUTREACH

This year, we received over 6,800 visitors 
and participants, eager to learn from our 
artists and collaborators.

Our year-round programming, consisting 
of hands-on activities and educational 
programmes, creates consistent and 
sustainable engagement for the public, arts 
professionals and underserved community 
groups.

Driven by partnership and collaboration 
with independent practitioners community 
stakeholders, our new initiatives have 
reached audiences beyond the visual arts 
and capture a new generation of patrons.
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Year-round Engagements

Creative hands-on experiences throughout 
the year, designed to introduce print and 
papermaking to an audience of all ages and 
diverse interests. 

Top to bottom, left to right:

Etching Class: Soft Ground 
Participants learn to create multiple grainy 
and textured prints from soft ground etching 
using our in-house French etching press.

Miniature Drypoint, Portraiture 
An introduction to the Intaglio drypoint 
technique.

Screenprinting class: Contemplating Scale 
An immersive, 3–hour screenprinting on 
fabric class.
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A series of print and paper classes were held 
in conjunction with the week-long March 
term break to engage parents and children.

Top to bottom, left to right:

Cyanotype Class: Nature’s Pleasures 
Participants learn the fundamentals of 
cyanotype and take home prints of found 
organic materials.

Screenprinting Class: Bite-sized 
Participants enjoy screenprinting and soft 
plate relief printing of childhood snacks on a 
tote bag.

Linocut Class: Peranakan Tiles 
Participants design, carve and print a 
handkerchief that features the symmetrical 
motifs inspired by ornate peranakan tiles.

Bookbinding Class: Coptic Stitch 
The Bookbinding Class teaches the coptic 
bookbinding stitch method, and participants 
get to bind their own handmade A6 book. 

101

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



Partnerships

In
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s The team initiated 5 collaborations with fellow 
cultural institutions, aimed at attracting cross-
disciplinary art enthusiasts and professionals. 
Our collaborators include: 

- SingLit Station

- National Gallery Singapore and  
 their volunteers

- Asian Civilisations Museum

- Singapore Botanic Gardens

- Sun Yat Sen Nanyang Memorial Hall
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s Our community collaborations support 

independent art practitioners and spotlight 
underrepresented voices. This focus will 
become a major objective in FY22.

Jiwa Pulau, Jiwa Laut: A Conversation  
with Firdaus Sani and Asnida Daud
Members of the Orang Laut indigenous 
community. This event became our best-
attended event in two years, with 92 
participants onsite and online. 

Botanical Inkmaking workshop with Wild Dot
An emerging botanist-artist collective.

Batik-making with Tony Sugiarta 
A local craftsman who specialises in batik and 
tenun woven cloth.
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hs This year, we pivoted our focus to youths, 

providing them with relevant support and 
channel to learn, experiment and connect. 
This focus will become a major objective in 
FY22.

Hereafter: A Youth Forum
Held in conjunction with Charles Lim Yi 
Yong: Staggered Observations of a Coast, 
young activists examine land reclamation in 
Singapore. This panel features Madhumitha 
Ardhanari, Senior Sustainability Strategist 
at Forum for the Future; Ho Xiang Tian, co-
founder of environmental group LepakinSG; 
and Woo Qiyun, sustainability consultant 
and founder of social platform The Weird 
and Wild. With moderator Tim Min Jie, the 
panel deliberated sand as a commodity and 
questioned the narratives and realities of 
reclamation and development.

Youth-run Workshops
As part of our Open House, we invited 4 of our 
Interns from NAFA Fine Arts to run various 
printmaking workshops independently.

Open House Volunteer Engagement
We trained 50 tertiary students in various arts 
and crafts activities, which they conducted for 
over 700 visitors during our Open House.
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Children’s Aid Society
As part of the STPI Annual Fundraiser, we invited 
16 kids from Children’s Aid Society’s homes for 
boys and girls to experiment with drypoint. 

3Pumpkins
20 children from 3Pumpkins, a Boon Lay-based 
arts company who practice social intervention 
through arts, visited the Gallery to explore our 
exhibition and play with paper marbling.
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2 October 2021

Artist-led Workshops

Paper-beads Making  
with Adeline Kueh

Carrying forward our spirit of collaboration, 
Artist-led Workshops provide an opportunity 
for our artist-in-residence to connect with the 
community, and for members of the public to 
experience the artist’s creation process.

107

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



Monoprint on 
Ceramics with  
Jason Lim

9 October 2021
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Circuitry Drawing 
Class with 
Zul Mahmod

14 – 16 October 2021
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STPI Open House 2021: Kampong Spirit 
presented print and papermaking activities 
inspired by quintessentially Singaporean 
elements, such as nostalgic childhood food, 
snacks, games and memories, and our unique 
melting pot of cultures. The theme also pays 
tribute to the sense of community and unity 
that we have witnessed during these difficult 
times, a spirit that we hope will continue to 
linger and grow in the days to come.

18 – 19 December 2021

Open House 
2021:  
Kampong Spirit

FREE ENTRY

STPI OPEN HOUSE   2021

SPIRIT

OPEN HOUSE

KAMPO NG 

SAT – SUN
18 – 19 DEC 
11AM – 5PM  

HI!
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Since its inception, the Friends of STPI programme 
has successfully rolled out a solid programme 
foundation whilst maintaining its core mission 
through unique and exclusive offerings. It is 
crucial to maintain and cultivate patronships 
especially during this period where donations 
are central to funding STPI operations and its 
residency programme.

As we collectively ease into a post-pandmic 
world, we look forward to bringing our Friends 
even more intimate and insightful programmes 
that are signature of FoSTPI.

FoSTPI
PROGRAMME
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STUDIO VISITS: 

VIP TOURS:

We organised two studio visits with artists 
Adeline Kueh and Ian Woo, so as to provide 
our Friends with a deeper insight into the 
artistic processes of these artists.

We hosted VIP Tours of our exhibitions 
throughout the year, where our FoSTPI had 
an exclusive look at our exhibitions before it 
premiered to the public.
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Proven undeterred by physical constraints enacted by the pandemic in 
the past year, S.E.A. Focus returned stronger with its fourth edition and 
expanded its offerings in both the physical and digital space during 
Singapore Art Week 2022. 

As the region’s pioneering contemporary art platform, S.E.A. Focus 2022 
pushed ahead amid the ongoing pandemic to present over 190 artworks 
from 60 artists and 24 galleries. Among the mix of established and 
emerging artists are Tammy Nguyen (Vietnam/USA), Rirkrit Tiravanija 
(Thailand), indieguerillas (Indonesia), Khvay Samnang (Cambodia), 
Maria Taniguchi (Philippines), Nadiah Bamadhaj (Malaysia), our home-
grown father-and-daughter duo, Michael Ong & Donna Ong, and many, 
many more.

Behind the distinctive scaffolding-clad entrance facade at Tanjong Pagar 
Distripark stood our thoughtfully curated exhibition themed chance…
constellations – an exploration of the shared histories, geographies and 
converging cultures that connect the artistic community in this region. 

This year’s programming also took a bold step into the future and 
included its first showcase of NFTs (non-fungible tokens) featuring 
Tezos, an energy-efficient blockchain widely adopted worldwide. TZ 
APAC, the leading Asia adoption entity supporting the Tezos ecosystem, 
and Crypto Art Week Asia (CAWA) curated a digital exhibition titled 
“Tezos NFTs: The New North Star’’ with works by over 15 digital artists 
from the region. 

S.E.A. FOCUS 2022
15 – 23 January 2022
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Mr Edwin Tong (Minister for Culture, Community and Youth and Second Minister for Law) and Ms Low Yen Ling (Minister of State, Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth & 
Ministry of Trade and Industry) gracing S.E.A. Focus 2022 127
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Curator’s Tour with Joyce Toh Emi Eu with Mr Edmund Cheng, Chairman of SAM 
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Artsy, the largest global online marketplace for art, 
returned as our Official Online Partner to host an 
extended online edition of S.E.A. Focus 2022, which 
allowed us to transcend geographical boundaries and 
broaden the international reach and prominence of 
participating art galleries.

We were also thrilled to have our first collaboration 
with Art Basel, the world’s leading fair for modern 
and contemporary art. Being able to leverage on 
its industry expertise and international networks 
has facilitated S.E.A. Focus’ mission of showcasing 
Southeast Asian contemporary art to global audiences 
and positioning Singapore as one of the leading 
cultural hubs in Southeast Asia. 

Taking art beyond the confines of the gallery, we 
partnered Projector X, a pop-up screening room 
at Riverside Point by The Projector, to host the 
screening of 25 compelling artist-made short films, 
animations and video works. The participating artists 
included Robert Zhao Renhui (Singapore), Tromarama 
(Indonesia), and Dinh Q. Lê (Vietnam).

Like-minded Collaborators

Are there any images 
from the Projector X 
19-21 Jan 2022?
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One of the key highlights for S.E.A. Focus 2022 was 
the SEAspotlight Talks, a series of specially curated 
panel discussions featuring insights on the latest 
artistic developments from and around Southeast 
Asia by industry experts. 

This year, we worked with ArtAsiaPacific to present 6 
talks in the series “Pivot to the Future” which explored 
the brave new post-pandemic world of contemporary 
art, where the rules of engagement with art are being 
rewritten and new audiences are increasingly turning 
to virtual avenues. 

Public Programmes
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SAW Dialogues – In Retrospect: 10 Years of SAW
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Notable media coverage include CNA 
(Singapore Tonight), The Straits Times, 
Lianhe Zaobao, Money FM, Manilla Times, 
The Art Newspaper, Artnet and Ocula.

Media Coverage

Other meaningful conversations included a virtual panel 
organised by Art Basel to discuss Southeast Asia as a 
single art market, and one of Singapore Art Week’s SAW 
Dialogues, co-presented with S.E.A. Focus, talked about 
Singapore’s position as a vibrant arts hub in a regional 
context. 
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SPECIAL 
 ENTIONS

Chapter 4
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Standing, From Left to Right: Clara Chan, Virginie Labbe, Yit Peng Chong, Manisha Sanadhya, Swapna 
Mirashi, Angie Ng, Cagil Yurdakul Toker, Jen Wilson, Darlene Kasten, Deena Goh, Nupur Agarwala 
Bahadur, Tenzin Dolkar, Erika Cisneros, Anna Watson, Sabine Gebele-Pham 
Seated, From Left to Right: Thet Thet Han, Seema Devitre, Samantha Carle, Akiko Kato, Shireen Wee

*This photo was taken before COVID-19Our 
Docents
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We engaged our docents in a training programme 
facilitated by PIA Studio, who shared insights into 
paper conservation. The programme was followed 
a hands-on etching workshop conducted by the in-
house Senior Instructor. 
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Russel Wong, Heliconia (detail), 2020
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Genevieve Chua, Pivot Point (detail), 2020
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DONORS/PATRONS STPI is a non-profit organisation that relies on various funding sources for its operations. It is through 
the generosity of our donors and patrons that we are empowered to be one of the leading institutions 
for contemporary art, committed to the production and presentation of innovative artistic works in 
the mediums of print and papermaking. With their invaluable support, STPI can continue to push 
the boundaries of creative excellence beyond local shores, and become a world-class institution that 
propels Singapore towards artistic and cultural prominence on the international stage.

AILEEN JOSEPHINE  
MABASA CHENG 

ALEXANDER BLIGH  
HUGHES TURNBULL 

ALTERPACKS PTE. LTD. 

ANDREW KALMAN-CRANE 
KAMAN GALLERY 

BINJAITREE

CHER SHI YIN

DAVID CHRISTIAN ANGDI

DORIS SOHMEN-PAO 

EILEEN YEO

ELLYSE SOEDJASA

EU SU YAN REBECCA

GRACE CHANG

HOLYWELL FOUNDATION LTD 

KELVIN LUI

KENNETH TAN JHU HWA 

LEE WENG FOO 

LEONG 2021 FOUNDATION

LILING ONG 

LIM HUEY YUEE 

LOURDES SAMSON 

MANU GEORGE 

NATHANIEL PUTRA 
GUNAWAN 

NG SI JIA 

NGEOW YUEN YIE

PALUKURI NIRMALA 

POH JOO TING 

PRABU GANDHI 

PRITPAL GILL

RICHARD NIJKERK

RICHARD SLOVENSKI 

ROOPA DEWAN 

ROSE ANN DE 
PAMPELOONE 

SAM KOK WENG 

SUSAN KONG YIM PUI 

THE FANZHI FOUNDATION 
FOR ART AND EDUCATION 

WEE TENG WEN 
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DOCENT VOLUNTEERS

STPI’s Docent Programme is supported by docent volunteers from Friends 
of the Museum (FOM). Our longstanding partnership with Friends of the 
Museum has welcomed passionate and enthusiastic individuals, who 
have become excellent ambassadors for STPI in the arts community. The 
diversity amongst the docent community has also allowed us to reach 
out to various foreign language communities – French, Korean, Japanese 
and Spanish. Our docents are committed to sharing the wonders of print 
and papermaking, and undergo four months of training to be equipped 
to conduct tours for the public and school groups.

STPI’s Gallery Internship Programme provides a 
unique platform for individuals to gain valuable insight 
into the different facets of gallery programming and 
operations through supporting various departments – 
Communications, Education & Outreach, Registrar and 
Sales. Depending on current projects and schedules, 
interns will take on various roles and gallery duties, 
with tasks ranging from managing day-to-day gallery 
operations, research and writing tasks for upcoming 
exhibitions and artist residency projects, to preparing for 
exhibition openings and event set-ups.

(as per 10 February 2022) Starting April 2021 – March 2022INTERNS

Syafiqah Abdul Alimsidik
Haikal bin Fadzil
Laetitia Arabelle
Pia Wong
Anna Naveen
Lew Kylin
Krystal Choo
Nathan Tan Yew Wai
Zhao Yi
Ellyn Goh
Christen Teo
Oscar Larrea
Ranen Pang
Nur Fatin

Nupur Agarwala Bahadur
Clara Chan
Yit Peng Chong
Maria Conde
Seema Devitre
Roopa Dewan
Durriya Dohadwala
Tenzin Dolkar
Alexandra Domart
Sara Fredaigue
Ikumi Fushimi
Sabine Gebele-Pham
Deena Goh
Madhumita Goswami
Thet Thet Han
Maureen Hellspong
Alka Kapoor
Darlene Kasten

Akiko Kato
Ellen Heejin Kim
Virginie Labbé
Sarah Lev
Michiyo Lim
Yuen Ping Lim (Ping)
Krystina Lyon
Angie Ng
Pixim Ooi (Phaik Sim) 
Moni Pang
Nishtha Pathak
Neena Ramaswami
Manisha Sanadhya
Vidya Schalk
Ai Lee Shia
Sabine Silberstein
Jacqueline Thng
Elissa Viornery

Justina Vo
Shireen Wee 
(Hui Ying) 
Chee Sing Wong
Jo Wright
Jessica Yap
Cagil Yurdakul 
Toker
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SUSTAINABLE
EVELOPMENT

Chapter 5
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ENVIRONMENT

As STPI continues to strive towards being a global 
leader in print and paper making in contemporary 
art practice, it has also recognised the need for the 
organisation to take a thorough and ingenuous look 
at the ways in which the business can be conducted 
through a sustainability lens.

Even though our carbon footprint is relatively small, 
STPI is resolved in taking a bold step towards a more 
sustainable future. STPI is committed to reporting 
on the ESGs that are material to its business and to 
continue building on environmentally and socially 
beneficial initiatives year on year. 

To explore the possibility of switching to a renewable 
energy source, STPI has conducted a preliminary study 
on the feasibility of installing solar panels on its premises. 
Evaluation based on the angle and material of its roof, 
structures on both sides of the property, concluded that 
solar panels would likely not have an optimal yield due 
to the large shadows cast by the neighbouring buildings, 
secondary roof and the steep incline. All these factors 
reduce the amount of time that the panel is exposed to 
direct sunlight thus creating a small electrical yield.

STPI will continue to explore green energy sources which 
include switching to an energy provider on the open 
electricity market for solar energy offered by suppliers like 
Geneco, Keppel Electric, Pacific Light Energy, Sembcorp, 
Senoko and Sunseap. Price points and renewable energy 
supply model (carbon offsets vs 100% solar energy) will be 
its main consideration when making the switch.

STPI employs the use of motion-sensors on all lights in its 
stair wells. Most of the bulbs used within the common areas 
are either fluorescent or LED. Any halogen lights will be 
replaced in phases as STPI will undergo a series of facilities 
upgrades in the 2nd half of 2022. Part of the upgrades 
would include the replacement of the current air-handling 
units (AHU) & fan coil units (FCU) to an energy efficient one.

Total energy usage for FY21 (Apr 21 – Mar 22)  
was 957,630 Kwh. 

i.  Energy
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Water treatment

STPI workshop uses distilled water that is purified through 
a filtration system that is then used to beat the fibres like 
mulberry and cotton into a pulp. Chemicals that are added 
into the papermaking process pass through a separate 
filtration tank to remove all traces of it before the water 
is safe enough to be discharged. A sensor is placed at the 
point of discharge as a safeguard. A safety license is also 
needed for the use of the chemicals which includes handling 
and discharging of the chemicals.

a.  Plastics

In 2022, STPI is eliminating the use of single-used 
plastic bottles within its premises. Plastic bottled water 
that was previously purchased in bulk will no longer be 
procured moving forward.

Common pantry supplies consist of ceramic mugs and 
plates for shared use. Plastic cups, plates and cutlery 
are strongly discouraged.

Total water consumption for FY21 (Apr 21 – Mar 22) 
was 5,439m3.

ii.  Water

iii.  Waste  Management

Water used in STPI mainly comes from the process of 
papermaking and in support of its daily operations.
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b. Paper

Collaterals

Since 2020, STPI has significantly reduced the printing 
of collaterals like invitations & exhibition catalogues.

STPI is resolved to reducing its dependency on paper-
based collaterals and have not re-introduced printed 
invitations since the resumption of exhibitions. S.E.A. 
Focus has also completely eliminated the issuing of 
physical tickets during its last edition in 2022 and will 
continue to do so for all other editions

Printing of exhibition catalogues have also been 
reduced significantly over the years. In addition, STPI 
has been working with only FSC (Forest Stewardship 
Council) certified paper. STPI will continue to monitor 
the printing and distribution of these catalogues to 
achieve minimal wastage. The transition to a digital-
only exhibition brochures is currently being evaluated 
for selected exhibitions.

Workshop

Papermaking and printmaking are integral parts of the 
creative process in STPI.

For papermaking, raw materials such as mulberry and 
cotton fibres are essential. These fibres are secured 
from a professional papermill specifically tailored for 
handmade paper. 

Commercially available paper is also purchased upon 
artists’ requests or needs from papermills who produce 
paper in an ethical and sustainable way.
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c.  Misc. Materials

Workshop

The workshop produces artworks from a range of 
different print techniques. Each technique would 
employ the use of a medium for print which includes 
copper plates, wood blocks, limestone and screens.

For materials like limestone where the surface can be 
filed down and smooth out, they will be reused. Screens 
from screen printing are also reused after treating the 
light-sensitive emulsion paint on the surface to remove 
it completely before the next use.  

Materials such as copper plates which can be used 
twice will be recycled after.

Exhibition

Props made for exhibitions like pedestals and acrylic 
boxes are usually stored and re-used if possible. 
Wooden panel walls are also recycled by the contractor 
if it is still in good condition. 

Large canvas banners hung on the façade of STPI 
that are changed before each exhibition are currently 
being re-designed and re-purposed to create new 
merchandise like pouches which will be sold at The 
Corner Shop as part of the banner project. 
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SOCIAL

STPI strives to be an equal opportunity employer and 
adheres to the Tripartite Guidelines on Fair Employment 
Practices. We currently have a work force of 33 employees 
as of 31st March 2022.  

Almost half of the co-workers employed are female. 

STPI also has a diverse workforce from various nationalities 
including Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Hong Kong, Japan, 
Korea and US.

STPI continues to embrace inclusiveness and diversity in its 
workplace as we strongly believe the sharing of different life 
experiences and perspectives will create a foundationally 
strong and well-rounded organisation. 

i. Diversity in Workforce
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a. Staff Development Education Programme (SDEP)

This new programme that is available to anyone who 
has been part of the STPI family for at least 2 years, was 
first introduced in March 2022. The SDEP encourages 
staff to pursue various creative interests and seek new 
learning opportunities for their professional or personal 
development. The programme provides a safe and 
conducive platform to widen networks and inspire the 
pursuit of developing skills to a greater height.

ii. Development and training

b. Skills transmission

At the heart of STPI is the creative workshop.

The workshop team possesses both precious knowledge 
and depth of technique in a combination of printmaking 
and papermaking that is unique to this region and the 
rest of the world. 

The preservation of these skills and the transcribing of 
innovative techniques through the interactions between 
artists and the workshop, is vital for posterity. These 
dialogues are evident in the creation of the works, which 
is made possible only through the vision of the artist and 
the hands of the printer and papermaker. 

STPI has started a school partnerships programme whose 
primary aim is to grow awareness, interest and appreciation 
of printmaking as an art form. The pilot programme is 
currently offered to the 2 main art schools in Singapore 
at a tertiary level; NAFA Fine Art and Lasalle.  In addition 
to creating awareness and spreading appreciation of 
paper works and print techniques, a key objective is to 
build interest towards a career in printmaking. As the 
world increasingly values digitally created art, traditional 
techniques like printmaking are continually sidelined. Thus, 
it is crucial that STPI persists in providing industry insights 
and opportunities to a new generation of graduates to 
ensure a constant influx of new craftspeople skilled in 
print and papermaking for the longevity of STPI.
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Recognising the importance of giving back to the 
community and providing education opportunities for our 
next generation of artists, craftspeople and art managers, 
STPI has a myriad of stimulating and unique programmes 
available to the public throughout the year.

STPI also engages with schools and social organisations 
to provide pro-bono tours, workshops & learning activities 
that encourages interaction, knowledge building and 
hands-on experience through art.

More details can be found in the ‘Public Programmes and 
Community Outreach’ segment of the Annual Report on 
pp. 98.

STPI provides insurance coverage for all full-time 
employees against personal accidents, hospitalisation, 
dental and overseas travel.

Workshop safety especially involving the use of machinery 
and chemicals are supervised by a qualified personnel 
who has undergone BizSafe related trainings. A fixed 
allowance is also allocated to workshop craftspeople to 
purchase safety boots and gear which should be worn 
at all times when machinery is used.

iii. Community

iv. Health, Safety and Wellbeing
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GOVERNANCE

Every employee is subjected to a standard code of conduct 
and ethics which is communicated in the Employee 
Handbook, made available upon joining STPI. Corrupt 
practices, conflict of interest, whistleblowing and gifting 
policies are particularly important.

For more information, please refer to the next section on 
‘Corporate Governance’.

STPI is committed to adopt best practices and 
recommendations from both Cyber Security Agency of 
Singapore (CSA) and Centre for Internet Security (CIS).  
An IT audit based on ISO27001 was conducted in FY21 
with no major non-conformance flagged.

Cybersecurity and business enablement remains a top 
priority for STPI, as such, an upgrade of the IT infrastructure 
is currently underway to fix any legacy issues.  The IT 
infrastructure upgrade is designed to further enable 
protection, mitigation, and reduction of risks, and to 
provide a Disaster Recovery environment for STPI Business 
Continuity Planning capabilities.   

STPI is also committed to ensure data protection compliance 
in accordance with the latest PDPA regulations.

i. Employee Code of Conduct

ii. IT Security & Data Privacy 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Chapter 6

152

CORPORATE GOVERNANCESTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



153

CORPORATE GOVERNANCESTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2021/ 2022



Singapore Tyler Print Institute (STPI) was set up on 18 October 2000 as a company limited 
by guarantee under the umbrella of Ministry of Information, Communications and the Arts 
which is now known as Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth. STPI was registered 
under the Charities Act on 22 December 2000. It is also an approved Institution of a Public 
Character (IPC) under Charities Act (Cap 37) ti l l  31 October 2022.

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2022

Charity Registration Number

Unique Entity Number (UEN)

Registered Address: 

Principal Place of Business:

Governing Board members/trustees:

1482

200008878C

80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624

41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236

1.

2.

3. 

4.

5.

5.2

5.1

Board of Directors

Members

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Low Irving Chee Whay 
Low Eng Teong 
Nathaniel Putra Gunawan 
Sam Kok Weng 
Tan Chuan Yong 
Jose Isidro Navato Camacho 
Koh Lin-Net 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Wong Ai Ai

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Low Irving Chee Whay 
Jose Isidro Navato Camacho

Low Irving Chee Whay 
Sam Kok Weng 
Tan Chuan Yong 
Koh Lin-Net 

Jose Isidro Navato Camacho 
Nathaniel Putra Gunawan 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Rirkrit Tiravanija 
Jim Amberson 
Kenneth Tan
*Non-Board Member

Name

Name

Name

Name

Chairman 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director

Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Appointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Appointed on 19 Oct 2021 
Retired upon end of term on 18 Oct 2021 
Retired upon end of term on 18 Oct 2021

Chairperson 
Member 
Member 
Member

Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Reappointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Reappointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021

Chairperson 
Member 
Member 
Member 

Chairperson 
Member 
Member (Advisory)* 
Member (Advisory)* 
Member (Advisory)* 
Member (Advisory)* 

Reappointed on 01 Nov 2021 
Reappointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Reappointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021

Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 
Appointed on 02 Nov 2021 

Designation Date

Designation Date

Designation

Designation

Date

Date

Directors in office (as at date of this report) are as follows:

MCCY is the governing body who authorises the official appointment or reappointment of all 
members of STPI Board of Directors. The current Board was appointed on 19 Oct 2021 for a three-
year term ending 30 Jun 2024. Susan Kong Yim Pui was appointed as Chairman on 19 Oct 2019 
with the recommendation from the Board and after review from MCCY. Susan Kong Yim Pui was 
first appointed to the board on 19 Oct 2007. Two new Directors were appointed to the Board in 
this term, with another two Directors retired from the Board.

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE

Executive Committee

Audit Committee

Content and Curatorial Committee 

The Executive Committee (EXCO) assists the Board in the stewardship and oversight of 
STPI. The EXCO works closely with the STPI’s management, reviews STPI’s operations 
and supervises its financial matters. This entails endorsing and monitoring financial 
budgets and guidelines, as well as reporting to the Board on any financial irregularities 
and concerns.

EXCO members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

The Audit Committee (AC) assists the Board in STPI board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
by providing an independent review of the financial reporting as well as overseeing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, and financial statements. In addition, 
the AC is also tasked to review and approve STPI’s adequacy and effectiveness of 
enterprise risk management framework and the quality of risk mitigation and control 
plans for all areas of risk identified by management.  Where appropriate, the AC will make 
recommendations to the Board on areas of improvement and supervise the management 
in furnishing periodic reports to the Board on its risk management action plans.

Existing AC members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

The Content & Curatorial Committee (CCC) assists the Board to provide strategic 
guidance and subject matter knowledge to the STPI management on matters 
pertaining to curatorial direction, the Visiting Artist Programme (VAP), Gallery 
exhibitions, participation in art fairs, and developments and new trend in the visual 
arts eco-system; and any other advisory functions as directed by the Board.

5.4

5.5

5.3

 
1) Mr. Ong Yew Huat 
2) Ms. Chen Huey Rosa 
3) Ms. Chong Siak Ching
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Note: 
*Board Term ended on 18 Oct 2021 
^Board Term starts on 18 Oct 2021

Directors’ Attendance5.6

Susan Kong Yim Pui

Chong Siak Ching

Kenneth Whye Choe*

Wong Ai Ai*

Low Irving Chee Whay

Low Eng Teong

Nathaniel Putra Gunawan

Sam Kok Weng

Tan Chuan Yong

Jose Isidro Navato Camacho^

Koh Lin-Net^

19 Oct ‘07 (Member) 

19 Oct ‘19 (Chairman) 

01 Apr ‘13

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘18

03 Jan ‘18

18 Dec ’20

18 Dec ’20

18 Dec ’20

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘19 

 

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘21

19 Oct ‘21

-

-

4 

 

4

2

-

4

-

-

-

-

1

-

4 

 

4

2

2

4

4

4

4

4

2

2

- 

 

-

1

1

2

-

-

1

1

-

1

- 

 

-

-

-

-

-

2

-

-

2

-

4 

 

4

2

-

4

-

-

-

-

1

-

4 

 

3

2

2

4

3

4

4

4

2

2

- 

 

-

1

1

2

-

-

1

1

-

1

- 

 

-

-

-

-

-

2

-

-

2

-

Name Date of First 
appointment  
of Committee 

Date of Last  
Re-appointment

Board Exco

HeldHeld Held HeldAttendedAttended Attended Attended

AC CCC
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Accumulated Surplus & Reserve Policy

STPI’s accumulated surplus comprises General fund (“GF”) and Technology and 
Development fund (“TDF”).  

Surplus reserve is part of the STPI’s income funds that is freely available for its 
operating purposes. Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being 
built up when grant and operating revenues exceed the STPI’s annual expenditure. 
The purpose of the cumulative surplus is to ensure adequate reserve for long-term 
financial sustainability and to meet unexpected funding needs.

According to STPI’s Reserve Policy, STPI targets to accumulate $20 million in 
the GF. This represents around 2.5 to 3 years’ worth of operating expenditures. 
Reserves needed to meet immediate operating needs shall be placed in current 
accounts with local financial institution.

Excess reserves beyond immediate needs are to be placed in short-term bank 
deposits in MAS approved financial institutions with good credit rating. More than 
50% of these reserves must be deposited in local financial institution.

11

Disclosure and Transparency  

Remuneration of the top three key staff for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 
is tabled below. 

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, annual wage supplements, bonuses and 
contributions to Central Provident Fund. 

During the year, none of the 3 highest paid staff serves as a governing board 
member. There is also no paid staff being a close member of the family belonging 
to the Executive Head or a governing board member of STPI.

12

$200,000 to below $300,000

Renumeration Range

1

Number of staff

$100,000 to below $200,000 2

Principal Bank:  
DBS Bank Limited

External Auditors:  
RSM Chio Lim LLP – appointed on 6 December 2021

Objective

Policies

STPI seeks to develop Singapore as a leading player in the contemporary art 
world by collaborating with top international artists in unique, ground-breaking  
projects. Through its artist collaborations, artworks, exhibitions and public 
programmes, STPI engages both international and local art communities with the 
aim of inspiring and developing an appreciation of print and paper art practice. 

Finance & Funding 
STPI is partly funded by the Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth; 
sponsorships and donations received from corporations/individuals; and receipts 
from the sales of Art Works created in STPI in collaboration with visiting artists.

6

7

8

9

Review of year-ended 31 March 2022

A) Staffing as at 31 March 2022 – 37 staff

B) The donation/sponsorship received during the financial year amounted 
to $312,610 (2020: $289,047).  Of which, $82,430 (2020: $196,822) are tax 
deductible donation.

• Singaporean & PR – 35  
• Foreigner – 2

10
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Conflict of Interest

Future Plans and Commitments

Whistleblowing Policy

STPI’s Memorandum and Articles of Association requires disclosure of interests in 
transactions or proposed transactions which might create duties or interests in 
conflict with his duties and interests as a Director. A Director shall not be entitled 
to vote on the matter and not be taken into an account in ascertaining whether a 
quorum is present. 

STPI has put in place a Conflict of Interest Policy.

STPI continues to work with well-known international artists to create works with paper 
and print technique in the workshop. The continued effort to work with world renowned 
artists will enhance STPI’s position as a creative workshop and gallery while putting 
Singapore on the international map. STPI is reaching out to the other parts of the world 
by participating in Art fairs in Europe, United States of America and North Asia.

We are dedicated towards upholding the highest standards for ourselves as part of 
our responsibility towards the public and our stakeholders. We will continue to adhere 
closely to the Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public Character, 
which sets out the principles and best practices in key areas of governance so as to 
attain long-term, sustainable success.

To adapt and stay on top of the business world and its operations on an international 
level, we are embarking on an all-rounded digitalisation transformation project in order 
to be a future-ready organisation. We are also committed to the growth of all STPI 
employees through amping up on our skills development capabilities.

As an organisation, we recognise the importance of examining the impact that we have 
socially and environmentally. STPI is thus committed to implement changes on these 
fronts through its people, processes and partners. We look forward to our transformation 
into a future-ready, socially conscious and environmentally sustainable institution.

STPI has put in place a Whistleblowing Policy. Any person may report any 
allegations of suspected misconduct that may adversely impact STPI, STPI’s 
stakeholders, STPI’s employees, or the public at large. Employees can report 
such allegations to their superior or to Chairman, STPI Board of Directors. Non-
employees can report to the Chairman.

13
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 1 

 
Statement by Board of Directors 
 

The directors of the Singapore Tyler Print Institute (the “Institute”) are pleased to present the audited 
financial statements of the Institute for the reporting year ended 31 March 2022.  
 
 
1. Opinion of the directors 

 
In the opinion of the directors, 
 
(a) the accompanying financial statements are drawn up so as to give a true and fair 

view of the financial position and performance of the Institute for the reporting year 
covered by the financial statements; and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute 

will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 

The Board approved and authorised these financial statements for issue. 
 
 
2.  Directors  
 

The directors of the Institute in office at the date of this statement are: 
  
Susan Kong Yim Pui  
Chong Siak Ching  
Low Eng Teong  
Low Irving Chee Whay  
Nathanniel Putra Guanawan  
Sam Kok Weng  
Tan Chuan Yong  
Jose Isidro Navato Camacho (appointed on 19 October 2021) 
Koh Lin-Net  (appointed on 19 October 2021) 

 
 
3. Directors’ interest in shares and debentures, and arrangements to enable directors to 

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and debentures  
 

The Institute is a company limited by guarantee and has no share and debentures.   
 
 
4. Options 
 

The Institute is a company limited by guarantee. As such, there are no share options or unissued 
shares under option. 
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 2 

 
 
5. Independent auditor 
 

RSM Chio Lim LLP has expressed willingness to accept re-appointment.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the directors  
 

 

 

 

 

 

...........................................………....  ...........................................……….... 
Susan Kong Yim Pui  Low Irving Chee Whay 
Director  Director 
   
   
26 August 2022   
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nde pe ndent Audit or ’s R eport  

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
 
 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Tyler Print Institute (the “Institute”), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of financial activities, statement 
of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the reporting year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statement, including the significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Institute are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Companies Act”), the Charities Act 1994 and other 
relevant regulations (the “Charities Act and Regulations”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“SFRS”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Institute as at 31 March 2022 
and of the performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Institute for the reporting year ended on 
that date.   
 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Institute in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Other matter 
 
The financial statements of the institute for the reporting year ended 31 March 2021 were audited by 
another independent auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 20 
August 2021.   
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
 
 
 
Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Statement by 
Board of Directors and the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
 
Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and SFRS, 
and for devising and maintaining a internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation 
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Institute or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Institute’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
 
 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d) 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
  
a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 
b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Institute’s internal control.  

 
c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Institute to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
 
 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
In our opinion the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Institute have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and the Charities Act and Regulations.  
 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year:  
 
(a) the Institute has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required 

under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and  
 
(b) the Institute has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities 

(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tan Wei Ling. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RSM Chio Lim LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
26 August 2022 
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Statement of Financial Activities         1.  2.  
For the Reporting Year Ended 31 March 2022       5.  
        6.  
        7.  

 

 
 
 

Notes 

  
 

General 
fund 

 Technology 
and 

development 
fund 

  
 
 

Total 

8.  

2022   $  $  $ 9.  
Incoming Resources:        10.  

Sales of artworks 4  1,211,531  –  1,211,531 11.  

Contributions and donations 5  267,611  –  267,611 12.  

Donations in kind   45,000  –  45,000 13.  

Commission income  4  77,732  –  77,732 14.  

Project income 4  200,000  –  200,000 15.  

Other income 4  290,718  –  290,718 16.  

Rental income   131,517  –  131,517 17.  

Interest income   31,271  –  31,271 18.  

Grants:        19.  

–    Operating grants 6  5,092,351  –  5,092,351 20.  

–    Rental of premises   770,400  –  770,400 21.  

–    Deferred capital grants amortised 14  219,275  –  219,275 22.  

Total incoming resources   8,337,406  –  8,337,406 23.  

        24.  

Resources expended        25.  

Employee benefits expense 7  (3,083,216)  –  (3,083,216) 26.  

Depreciation expense 9  (295,013)  –  (295,013) 27.  

Other operating expenses 8  (4,959,177)  –  (4,959,177) 28.  

Total resources expended   (8,337,406)  –  (8,337,406) 29.  

        30.  

Net surplus for the year   –  –  – 31.  

        32.  

Balance as at 1 April 2021   7,743,690  2,608,176  10,351,866 33.  

Balance as at 31 March 2022   7,743,690  2,608,176  10,351,866 34.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Activities         1.  2.  
For the Reporting Year Ended 31 March 2022       5.  
        6.  
        7.  

 

 
 
 

Notes 

  
 

General  
fund 

 Technology 
and 

development 
fund 

  
 
 

Total 

8.  

2021   $  $  $ 9.  
Incoming Resources:        10.  

Sales of artworks 4  1,632,379  –  1,632,379 11.  

Contributions and donations 5  205,447  –  205,447 12.  

Donations in kind   83,600  –  83,600 13.  

Commission income  4  96,714  –  96,714 14.  

Project income 4  200,000  –  200,000 15.  

Other income 4  187,250  –  187,250 16.  

Rental income   123,424  –  123,424 17.  

Interest income   61,597  –  61,597 18.  

Grants:        19.  

– Operating grants 6  3,480,102  –  3,480,102 20.  

–    Rental of premises 16  778,960  –  778,960 21.  

–    Deferred capital grants amortised 14  264,039  –  264,039 22.  

Total incoming resources   7,113,512  –  7,113,512 23.  

        24.  

Resources expended        25.  

Employee benefits expense 7  (2,562,480)  –  (2,562,480) 26.  

Depreciation expense 9  (325,124)  –  (325,124) 27.  

Other operating expenses 8  (3,951,210)  –  (3,951,210) 28.  

Total resources expended   (6,838,814)  –  (6,838,814) 29.  

        30.  

Net surplus for the year   274,698  –  274,698 31.  

        32.  

Balance as at 1 April 2020   7,468,992  2,608,176  10,077,168 33.  

Balance as at 31 March 2021   7,743,690  2,608,176  10,351,866 34.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 March 2022 

 Notes  2022  2021 
   $  $ 

ASSETS      
Non-current assets      
Plant and equipment 9  378,978  547,563 
Total non-current assets   378,978  547,563 
      
Current assets      
Trade and other receivables 10  205,306  464,149 
Other non-financial asset 11  51,273  45,011 
Cash and cash equivalents 12  13,925,768  14,298,715 
Total current assets   14,182,347  14,807,875 
Total assets   14,561,325  15,335,438 

      
FUNDS AND LIABILITIES      
Unrestricted funds      
General fund 13  7,743,690  7,743,690 
Technology and development fund 13  2,608,176  2,608,176 
Total funds   10,351,866  10,351,866 
      
Non-current liabilities      
Deferred grants, non-current 14  1,903,667  2,025,447 
Total non-current liabilities   1,903,667  2,025,447 
      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 15  1,699,596  2,021,993 
Other non-financial liabilities 16  223,296  123,133 
Deferred grants, current 14  382,900  832,999 
Total current liabilities   2,305,792  2,978,125 
Total liabilities   4,209,459  5,003,572 
Total funds and liabilities   14,561,325  15,355,438 
      
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Reporting Year Ended 31 March 2022 
 
 

 
2022 

$  
2021 

$ 
Cash flows (used in) / from operating activities  1.   
Net surplus for the reporting year – 2.  274,698 
Adjustments for:  3.   
Depreciation expense 295,013 4.  325,124 
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 45 5.  6. – 
Interest income (31,271)  (61,597) 
Amortisation of deferred capital grants (219,275)  (264,039) 
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital 44,512  274,186  
Trade and other receivables 245,441 7.  231,030 
Other non-financial asset (6,262) 8.  56,731 
Trade and other payables (322,397) 9.  628,558 
Other non-financial liabilities 100,163 10.  – 
Deferred grants (352,604) 11.  302,176 
Net cash flows (used in) / from operations  (291,147)  1,492,681 

  12.   
Cash flows used in investing activities  13.   
Purchase of plant and equipment (126,473) 14.   (105,221) 
Interest income received 44,673 15.  90,474 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (81,800)  (14,747) 
  16.   
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (372,947)  1,477,934 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance 14,298,715 17.  12,820,781 
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance (Note 12) 13,925,768  14,298,715 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 March 2022 
 
 
1. General 

 
Singapore Tyler Print Institute (the “Institute”) is a company limited by guarantee incorporated 
in Singapore under the Companies Act 1967. The Institute is also a registered charity under 
the Charities Act 1994 and is an approved Institution of a Public Character (“IPC”) from 1 
November 2020 to 31 October 2022 under the Singapore Income Tax Act 1947. The financial 
statements are presented in Singapore Dollar. 
 
The board of directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue on the date 
of the statement by directors. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial 
statements. 

 
The principal activities of the Institute are to promote interest and appreciation of art in 
Singapore, and the study and research into the art of printmaking and its history, techniques, 
skills and processes. 

 
Each member of the Institute undertakes to contribute such amounts not exceeding $1 to the 
assets of the Institute in the event that the Institute is wound up and the monies are required 
for payment of the liabilities of the Institute. The Institute has three members at the end of the 
reporting year. 
 
The memorandum and articles of association of the Institute restricts the use of fund monies to 
the furtherance of the objects of the Institute. They prohibit the payment of dividends to 
members. 
 
The registered office address of the Institute is located at 80 Raffles Place #32-01 UOB Plaza, 
Singapore 048624. The Institute is situated in Singapore. 

 
The Covid-19 pandemic and its aftermath 
 
Management has not identified any material uncertainties resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic 
and the aftermath of the pandemic surrounding the Institute’s business, and accordingly no 
further disclosures are made in these financial statements 

 
Statement of compliance with financial reporting standards 
 
The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (“SFRS”) and the related interpretations to SFRS (“INT SFRS”) 
as issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council. They are in compliance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and Charities Act 1994. 
 
Accounting convention  
 
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost 
convention except where a financial reporting standard requires an alternative treatment (such 
as fair values) as disclosed where appropriate in these financial statements. The accounting 
policies in financial reporting standard need not be applied when the effect of applying them is 
not material. The disclosures required by the financial reporting standards need not be provided 
if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material. 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 
Basis of preparation of the financial statements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting year. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Apart from those involving estimations, 
management has made judgements in the process of applying the centre’s accounting policies. 
The areas requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in 
Note 2C below, where applicable. 
 

2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
 
2A. Significant accounting policies 

 
Income recognition  
 
The financial reporting standard on revenue from contracts with customers establishes a five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Revenue is 
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer (which excludes estimates of 
variable consideration that are subject to constraints, such as right of return exists and 
modifications), net of any related sales taxes and excluding any amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties. An asset (goods or services) is transferred when or as the customer obtains control 
of that asset.  As a practical expedient the effects of any significant financing component is not 
adjusted if the payment for the good or service will be within one year. 

 
Sales of goods 

 
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in time when performance obligation is 
satisfied by transferring a promised good to customer. Control of the goods is transferred to the 
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.  

 
Grants 
 
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Institute will comply with conditions associated 
with the grant. 
 
Government grants relating to costs are included in liabilities as “deferred grant” and taken to 
the income and expenditure account over the period necessary to match them with the costs 
they are intended to compensate. 
 
Government grants relating to assets are included in liabilities as “deferred grant” and are taken 
to the income and expenditure account on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives 
of the related assets. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 
2A. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
Income recognition (cont’d) 

 
Contribution and donations 
 
Income from donation are recognised at a point in time when received, except for committed 
donations that are recorded when the commitments are signed.  Such income is only deferred 
and recognised over time when the donor specifies that the grant or donation must only be used 
in future accounting periods; or donor has imposed conditions when must be met before the 
Institute has unconditional entitlement. 

 
A donation in kind is included in the statement of financial activities based on an estimate of the 
fair value at the date of the receipt of the gift of the non-monetary asset or the grant of a right 
to the monetary asset. The gift is recognised if the amount of the gift can be measured reliably 
and there is no uncertainty that it will be received. No value is ascribed to volunteer services. 

 
Rendering of service 
 
Revenue from service orders and term projects is recognised when the entity satisfies the 
performance obligation at a point in time generally when the significant acts have been 
completed and when transfer of control occurs. Services that are not significant transactions 
revenue is recognised as the services are provided. 
 
For distinct services in a series such as routine or recurring service contracts where the promise 
under the contract is for a specified services that meets the over time criteria or is a stand-ready 
or single continuous service and if the nature of service is distinct, substantially the same and 
has the same pattern of transfer or each time increment is distinct, then revenue is recognised 
at the amount that the entity has the right to bill a fixed amount for each service provided. 
 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate that 
takes into account the effective yield on the asset. 
 
 Rental income 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern 
of the user's benefit, even if the payments are not on that basis. 
   
Employee benefits   
 
Contributions to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan are recorded as an expense as 
they fall due.  The Institute's legal or constructive obligation is limited to the amount that it is 
obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund (such as the Central Provident 
Fund in Singapore, a government managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).  For 
employee leave entitlement the expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of 
compensated absences is recognised in the case of accumulating compensated absences, 
when the employees render service that increases their entitlement to future compensated 
absences; and in the case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences 
occur. A liability for bonuses is recognised where the Institute is contractually obliged or where 
there is constructive obligation based on past practice. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 
2A. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
Foreign currency transactions  
 
The functional currency is the Singapore dollar as it reflects the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional 
currency at the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.  At each end of the reporting year, 
recorded monetary balances and balances measured at fair value that are denominated in non-
functional currencies are reported at the rates ruling at the end of the reporting year and fair value 
measurement dates respectively.  All realised and unrealised exchange adjustment gains and 
losses are dealt with in profit or loss except when a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. The presentation is in the functional currency.  
 
Income tax  
 
As an approved charity under the Charities Act 1994, the Institute is exempted from income tax 
under Section 13(1)(zm) of the Income Tax Act 1947 to the extent that these are applied to its 
charitable objects. No tax charges have risen for the Institute.  

 
Plant and equipment  
 
Plant and equipment are carried at cost on initial recognition and after initial recognition at cost 
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Cost also includes acquisition cost, borrowing cost capitalised and any cost directly attributable 
to bringing the asset or component to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.  Subsequent costs are recognised as an 
asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to statement of financial activities when they are incurred. 

 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to allocate the gross carrying amounts of the 
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives of each part of an item of these 
assets. The useful lives are as follows: 
 
Renovation - 8 years 
Computer and equipment - 3 years 
Office and printing equipment - 6 – 8 years 
Furniture and fittings  - 8 years 
 
An asset is depreciated when it is available for use until it is derecognised even if during that 
period the item is idle. Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial 
statements. 
 
The residual value and the useful life of an asset is reviewed at least at each end of the reporting 
year and, if expectations differ significantly from previous estimates, the changes are accounted 
for as a change in an accounting estimate, and the depreciation charge for the current and 
future periods are adjusted. 
 
The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in 
statement of financial activities. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 

2A. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)  
 

Leases of lessee 
 

A lease conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration.  Where a lease arrangement is identified, a liability to the lessor is recognised 
as a lease obligation calculated at the present value of minimum lease payments. A 
corresponding right-of-use asset is recorded. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance costs and reduction of the lease liability so as to reflect the interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recorded as an expense. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. Leases 
with a term of 12 months or less and leases for low value are not recorded as a liability and 
lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 
 
Leases of lessor 
 
For a lessor each of lease is classified as either an operating lease or a finance lease. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset. Rental income from operating leases is 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 
another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the user's benefit, even if the 
payments are not on that basis. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset and it is 
presented in its statement of financial position as a receivable at an amount equal to the net 
investment in the lease. For a finance lease the finance income is recognised over the lease 
term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net 
investment in the lease. 

 
Carrying amounts of non-financial assets  
 
The carrying amount of non-financial assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting year for 
indications of impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down through profit or 
loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The impairment loss is the excess of the carrying 
amount over the recoverable amount and is recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use.  When the fair value less costs of disposal method is used, any available 
recent market transactions are taken into consideration. When the value in use method is 
adopted, in assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). At each end of the reporting year non-financial assets with impairment 
loss recognised in prior periods are assessed for possible reversal of the impairment.  An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been measured, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised.  
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 

2A. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments: 
 
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  All 
other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are 
recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting or settlement date 
accounting. At initial recognition the financial asset or financial liability is measured at its fair 
value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial asset or financial liability. A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the entity neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of 
the financial asset. A financial liability is removed from the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, it is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged or cancelled or expires.   

 
Classification and measurement of financial assets: 
 
1. Financial asset classified as measured at amortised cost: A financial asset is measured 

at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), that is (a) the asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
Typically trade and other receivables, bank and cash balances are classified in this 
category. 

 
2. Financial asset that is a debt asset instrument classified as measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):  There were no financial assets 
classified in this category at reporting year end date.  

 
3.  Financial asset that is an equity investment classified as measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): There were no financial assets classified in 
this category at reporting year end date.  

 
4. Financial asset classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): 

There were no financial assets classified in this category at reporting year end date. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities: 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) in either of the 
following circumstances: (1) the liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a 
fair value basis; or (2) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise. All other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.  Reclassification of any financial liability is not permitted. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 

2A. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances, on demand deposits and any 
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.  For 
the statement of cash flows the item includes cash and cash equivalents less cash subject to 
restriction, if any. 
 
Fair value measurement 
 
The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When measuring 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, market observable data to the extent possible is used. If 
the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, an estimate is made using 
valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use 
of unobservable inputs (eg by use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent 
transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, or option pricing models 
refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the 
characteristics of the asset / liability that market participants would take into account. The 
Institute’s intention to hold an asset or to settle or otherwise fulfil a liability is not taken into 
account as relevant when measuring fair value. 
 
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 
fair value measurement in its entirety: Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 fair value 
measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived 
from prices). Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 
include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised at 
the end of the reporting period during which the change occurred. 
 
The carrying values of current financial instruments approximate their fair values due to the 
short-term maturity of these instruments and the disclosures of fair value are not made when 
the carrying amount of current financial instruments is a reasonable approximation of the fair 
value. The fair values of non-current financial instruments may not be disclosed separately 
unless there are significant differences at the end of the reporting year and in the event the fair 
values are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. The recurring 
measurements are made at each reporting year end date. 
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2. Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d) 
 
2B. Other explanatory information 

 
Provisions   
 
A liability or provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.  A provision is made using best estimates of the amount required in settlement 
and where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount recognised is the 
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.  Changes in estimates are reflected in statement of financial activities in the 
reporting year they occur.  
 
Funds 
 
Fund balances restricted by outside sources are so indicated and are distinguished from 
unrestricted funds allocated to specific purposes if any by action of the Board. Externally 
restricted funds may only be utilised in accordance with the purposes established by the source 
of such funds or through the terms of an appeal and are in contrast with unrestricted funds over 
which the Board retains full control to use in achieving any of its institutional purposes.  An 
expense resulting from the operating activities of a fund that is directly attributable to the fund 
is charged to that fund. Common expense if any are allocated on a reasonable basis to the 
funds based on a method most suitable to that common expense. 
 

2C. Critical judgements, assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
 
There were no critical judgements made in the process of applying the accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  There 
were no key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting year. 
 

  
3. Related party relationships and transactions 

 
The financial reporting standard on related party disclosures requires the Institute to disclose:  
(a) related party relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, 
and (b) relationships between parents and subsidiaries irrespective of whether there have been 
transactions between those related parties. A party is related to a party if the party controls, or 
is controlled by, or can significantly influence or is significantly influenced by the other party. 

 
A related party includes the committee members and key management of the Institute.  It also 
includes an entity or person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under 
common or joint control with these persons; members of the key management personnel or 
close members of the family of any individual referred to herein and others who have the ability 
to control, jointly control or significantly influence by or for which significant voting power in such 
entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any such individual.  
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3. Related party relationships and transactions (cont’d) 
 
All board members and staff members of the Institute are required to read and understand the 
conflict of interest policy in place and make full disclosure of interests, relationships and holding 
that could potentially result in conflict of interests. When a conflict of interest situation arises, 
the members or staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion, decision making and 
voting on the matter. 
 

3A. Related party transactions 
 

There are transactions and arrangements between the Institute and related parties and the 
effects of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial 
statements. The related party balances and transfer of resources, services or obligations if any 
are unsecured, without fixed repayment terms and interest or charge unless stated otherwise. 
 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Related parties (a)    
Sales of artwork 22,669  14,350 

  
(a) The related parties refer to directors and key management personnel of the Institute.  

 
3B. Key management compensation 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  293,276  302,074 
Post-employment benefits 17,453  17,340 
 310,729  319,414 

 
Key management personnel include the director and those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 
indirectly. The above amounts do not include compensation if any of certain key management 
personnel and director of the Institute who received compensation from related body corporates 
in their capacity as director and or executives of those body corporates.  
 
Number of key management in compensation bands: 

 
 2022  2021 
    
$100,000 and above 1  1 
 
The above amounts are included under employee benefits expense. 

 
No honorarium, fees or other benefits were paid to any member of the board or the 
management committee. 
 
The Board of Directors, or their close family members, have not received remuneration, or other 
benefits, from the Institute for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with 
the Institute, except as disclosed above. 
 
There is no claim by the Board of Directors for services provided to the Institute, either by 
reimbursement to the Board of Directors or by providing the board members with an allowance 
or by direct payment to a third party. 
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3. Related party relationships and transactions (cont’d) 
 

3B. Key management compensation (cont’d) 
 
There were no transactions with a corporation in which the above key management personnel 
have an interest. 
 

 
4. Income  

 
Income classified by timing of revenue recognition: 

 
2022 

$  
2021 

$ 
Point in time    
Sales of artwork  1,211,531  1,632,379 
Commission income  77,732  96,714 
Other income  290,718  187,250 
 1,579,981  1,916,343 
Over time    
Project income (Note 15) 200,000  200,000 
 1,779,981  2,116,343 
 
 

5. Tax deductible receipts 
 
The Institute enjoys a concessionary tax treatment whereby qualifying donors are granted 2.5 
times tax deduction for the donations made to the Institute. The Institutions of a Public 
Character (“IPC”) status granted to the Institute is for the period from 1 November 2020 to 31 
October 2022. 
 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Tax-exempt receipts issued for donations collected 82,430  196,822 
 

 
6. Operating grants 

 
These are grants from the Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth (“MCCY”) to fund the 
operations of the Institute. The operating grants were released to the National Arts Council 
(“NAC”) who disbursed the funds to the Institute. 
 
 

7. Employee benefits expense 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Short term employee benefits expense 2,767,715  2,259,751 
Contribution to defined contribution plans 315,501  302,729 
 3,083,216  2,562,480 
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8. Other operating expenses 
 
The major components and other selected components include the following: 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Rental expenses 770,400  778,960 
Art fairs and exhibition expenses    
- Sea focus 1,353,689  836,290 
- Others 1,169,433  686,593 
Maintenance expenses 438,429  350,503 
Supplies and materials 488,615  583,703 

 
 
9. Plant and equipment 

 

Renovations Computers  

Office and 
printing 

equipment 
Furniture 

and fittings Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost:      
At 1 April 2020 252,641 404,190 7,624,619 2,112,983 10,394,433 
Additions – 21,747 83,474 – 105,221 
At 31 March 2021 252,641 425,937 7,708,093 2,112,983 10,499,654 
Additions 42,400 37,020 47,053 – 126,473 
Disposal – (134,914) (58,497) (380) (193,791) 
At 31 March 2022 295,041 328,043 7,696,649 2,112,603 10,432,336 
      
Accumulated depreciation:      
At 1 April 2020 252,641 366,890 7,350,767 1,656,669 9,626,967 
Depreciation for the year – 24,150 57,611 243,363 325,124 
At 31 March 2021 252,641 391,040 7,408,378 1,900,032 9,952,091 
Depreciation for the year 1,767 29,199 65,052 198,995 295,013 
Disposal – (134,914) (58,452) (380) (193,746) 
At 31 March 2022 254,408 285,325 7,414,978 2,098,647 10,053,358 
      
Carrying value:      
At 1 April 2020 – 37,300 273,852 456,314 767,466 
At 31 March 2021 – 34,897 299,715 212,951 547,563 
At 31 March 2022 40,633 42,718 281,671 13,956 378,978 

 
 
10. Trade and other receivables 

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
Trade receivables:    
Outside parties 36,603  312,952 
    
Other receivables    
Outside parties 18,445  25,986 
Interest receivables  13,634  27,036 
Grants receivables 112,324  64,284 
Refundable deposits                24,300  33,891 
Subtotal 168,703  151,197 
Total trade and other receivables 205,306  464,149 
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10. Trade and other receivables (cont’d) 
 
The trade receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model under the financial reporting 
standard on financial instruments. The methodology applied for impairment loss is the simplified 
approach to measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”) which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. The expected lifetime losses are recognised from initial 
recognition of these assets. No loss allowance is necessary as majority of the receivables have 
been received subsequent to the reporting year end.  
 
There are no collateral held as security and other credit enhancement for the trade receivables. 

 
As part of the process of setting customer credit limits, different credit terms are used.  The 
average credit period generally granted to trade receivable customers is about 30 days (2021: 
30 days).  But some customers take a longer period to settle the amounts. 

 
Ageing analysis of the age of trade receivable amounts that are past due as at the end of 
reporting year but not impaired: 
 

 
2022 

$  
2021 

$ 
Trade receivables:    
Current 34,448  24,249 
1 to 30 days 1,182  74,785 
31 to 60 days 503  205,623 
Over 60 days 470  8,295 
 

 Concentration of trade receivable customers as at the end of reporting year: 
 

 2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 

    
Top 1 customer 22,839  255,814 
Top 2 customers 23,700  299,704 
Top 3 customers 24,342  302,704 
 
Other receivables 
 
Other receivables are normally with no fixed terms and therefore there is no maturity. 

 
Other receivables at amortised cost shown above are subject to the expected credit loss model 
under the financial reporting standard on financial instruments. Other receivables are regarded 
as of low credit risk if they have a low risk of default and the debtor has a strong capacity to 
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.  At the end of the first reporting 
period a loss allowance is recognised at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses 
because there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.  
 
At each subsequent reporting date, an evaluation is made whether there is a significant change 
in credit risk by comparing the debtor’s credit risk at initial recognition (based on the original, 
unmodified cash flows) with the credit risk at the reporting date (based on the modified cash 
flows). Adjustment to the loss allowance is made for any increase or decrease in credit risk. No 
loss allowance is necessary. 

 
 
11. Other non-financial asset 

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Prepayment 51,273  45,011 
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12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Not restricted in use 13,925,768  14,298,715 
    
Interest earning balances 7,700,004  7,655,331 
 
The rate of interest for the cash on interest earning balances is ranged from 0.10% to 0.55% 
(2021: 1.10%) per annum. 
 
 

13. Unrestricted funds 
 
 2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
General fund (Note 13A) 7,743,690  7,743,690 
Technology and development fund (Note 13B)  2,608,176  2,608,176 
 10,351,866  10,351,866 

 
13A.  General fund 

 
 The general fund is the Institute's income funds that is freely available for its operating purposes. 

Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being built up when grant and operating 
revenues exceed the Institute's annual expenditure. The purpose of the cumulative surplus is 
to ensure adequate reserve for long-term financial sustainability and to meet unexpected 
funding needs. 

 
Reserve policy: 
 

General fund:  
2022 

$  
2021 

$ 
Balance at end of the year    7,743,690  7,743,690 
Annual operating expenditure* 8,337,406  6,838,814 
Ratio of reserves to annual operating expenditure (times) 0.93  1.13 

 
* Annual operating expenditure represents total resources expended for general funds. 

 
13B.  Technology and development fund (“TDF”) 

 
The TDF was set up for the purpose of helping the Institute to achieve continued excellence in 
its printing techniques and technology. 
 
The Board of Directors agreed by resolution since 2007 that all future surpluses shall be 
transferred to general fund and the technology and development fund in the ratio of 70% and 
30% respectively. 
 
On 31 October 2017, the Board of Directors agreed by resolution effective from financial year 
ended 31 March 2018, that all future surpluses shall be transferred to general fund. Any future 
transfer to the technology and development fund will be made on a discretionary basis. 

 
Funds are placed in short-term bank deposits with financial institutions which have good credit 
rating. The accumulated surplus together with the interest income generated can be drawn 
upon for operating purposes such as to fund any deficit or the Board can designate funds to 
be used for non-operating purposes. 
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14. Deferred grants  
 

Deferred grants are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 

 

2022 
$ 

 2021 
$ 
 

Deferred grants, current 382,900  832,999 
Deferred grants, non-current 1,903,667  2,025,447 
 2,286,567  2,858,446 

 
Movement in deferred grants are as follows: 

 

 
Operating 

grants  
Capital 
grants 

Sea 
Focus 

Other 
grants  

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
At 1 April 2020 2,102,214 521,493 – 196,602 2,820,309 
Grants received 444,672 – – 320,359 765,031 
Amortisation of  
deferred capital grants – (264,039) – – (264,039) 
Utilisation of deferred grants – 
operating expenses (192,227) – –  (60,326) (252,553) 
Repayment of grants  (210,302) – – – (210,302) 
At 31 March 2021 2,144,357 257,454 – 456,635 2,858,446 
Grants received – 52,375 37,383 86,530 176,288 
Amortisation of  
deferred capital grants – (219,275) – – (219,275) 
Utilisation of deferred grants – 
operating expenses (49,912) – – (478,980) (528,892) 
At 31 March 2022 2,094,445 90,554 37,383 64,185 2,286,567 

 
Operating grants are typically granted for utilization within 3 years of their commencement date, 
failing which they will be refunded to the grantor. As at the reporting year end, operating grants 
which have been deferred for utilisation against future operating expenses are expected to be 
utilised by 31 March 2024 (2021: 31 March 2023).    
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15. Trade and other payables 

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
Trade payable     
Outside parties 363,870  699,242 
    
Other payables     
Refundable deposits 59,570  59,570 
Accruals 1,062,551  1,011,369 
Others (a) 213,605  251,812 
Subtotal 1,335,726  1,322,751 
Total trade and other payables 1,699,596  2,021,993 

 
(a) Included in other payables is expenditure grant of $125,507 (2021: $178,529) which is 

repayable to NAC. The Institute received expenditure grant amounting to $1,479,196 
(2021: $1,014,819) from NAC to organise the Sea Focus event held during the year. In 
organising the Sea Focus event, the Institute incurred operating expenses amounting to 
$1,353,689 (2021: $836,290) (Note 8), and a corresponding grant income of $1,353,689 
(2021:$836,290) (Note 6) was recognised in the same period. Additionally, the Institute 
would recognise a project management fee of $200,000 (Note 4) over the event period for 
organising the Sea Focus event. 

 
 
16. Other non-financial liabilities  

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
    
Upfront payment by customers 223,296  123,133 
    

 
17. Financial instruments: information on financial risks 

 
17A. Categories of financial assets and liabilities  

 
The following table categorises the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded 
at the end of the reporting year: 

 
2022 

$ 
 2021 

$ 
Financial assets:    
Financial assets at amortised cost 14,131,074  14,762,864 
    
Financial liabilities:    
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,699,596  2,021,993 
 
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 
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17. Financial instruments: information on financial risks 
 
17B. Financial risk management 

 
The main purpose for holding or issuing financial instruments is to raise and manage the 
finances for the Institute’s operating, investing and financing activities.  There are exposures to 
the financial risks on the financial instruments such as credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
comprising interest rate, currency risk and price risk exposures.  Management has certain 
practices for the management of financial risks. However these are not documented in formal 
written documents. The following guidelines are followed: All financial risk management 
activities are carried out and monitored by senior management staff. All financial risk 
management activities are carried out following acceptable market practices. 
 
There have been no changes to the exposures to risk; the objectives, policies and processes 
for managing the risk and the methods used to measure the risk. 
 

17C. Fair values of financial instruments 
 
The analyses of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 
These include the significant financial instruments stated at amortised cost and at fair value in 
the statement of financial position. The carrying values of current financial instruments 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments and the 
disclosures of fair value are not made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments 
is a reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

 
 

17D. Credit risk on financial assets 
 
Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk and failures by 
counterparties to discharge their obligations in full or in a timely manner. These arise principally 
from cash balances with banks, cash equivalents and receivables. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk is the total of the fair value of the financial assets at the end of the reporting year.  
Credit risk on cash balances with banks is limited because the counter-parties are entities with 
acceptable credit ratings.  For expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets, the general 
approach (three-stage approach) in the financial reporting standard on financial instruments is 
applied to measure the impairment allowance.  Under this general approach the financial assets 
move through the three stages as their credit quality changes. On initial recognition, a day-1 
loss is recorded equal to the 12 month ECL unless the assets are considered credit impaired.  
 
However, the simplified approach applied by the entity (that is, to measure the loss allowance 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL at initial recognition and throughout its life) is permitted by 
the financial reporting standard on financial instruments for financial assets that do not have a 
significant financing component, such as the trade receivables. For credit risk on trade 
receivables an ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of the debtors 
and an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Reviews and assessments of credit 
exposures in excess of designated limits are made. Renewals and reviews of credits limits are 
subject to the same review process. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in Note 12 represent balance with less than 90 days 
maturity. Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of the 
standard on financial instruments. There was no identified impairment loss. 
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17. Financial instruments: information on financial risks (cont’d) 
 
17E. Liquidity risk – financial liabilities maturity  

 
The liquidity risk refers to the difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. It is expected that all the liabilities 
will be paid at their contractual maturity. There are no liabilities contracted to fall due after twelve 
months at the end of the reporting year .The average credit period taken to settle trade payables 
is about 30 to 60 days (2021: 30 to 60 days). The other payables are with short-term durations. 
The classification of the financial assets is shown in the statement of financial position as they 
may be available to meet liquidity needs and no further analysis is deemed necessary. 
 
The Institute has minimal exposure to liquidity risk as its operations are mainly funded by 
government grants, donations and sale of artworks.  
 

17F. Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognised in the statement of 
financial position and on some financial instruments not recognised in the statement of financial 
position. The interest from financial assets including cash balances is not significant. 

 
17G. Foreign currency risk 
 

The Institute has insignificant exposure to foreign currency risk. 
 

 
18. Changes and adoption of financial reporting standards  

 
For the current reporting year, new or revised financial reporting standards were issued by the 
Singapore Accounting Standards Council. Those applicable to the Institute are listed below. 
Those applicable new or revised standards did not require any significant modification of the 
measurement methods or the presentation in the financial statements.   
  
SFRS No. Title 
  
SFRS 39;107 
and 109 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Amendments 
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19. New or amended standards in issue but not yet effective  
 

For the future reporting years, certain new or revised financial reporting standards were issued 
by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council and these will only be effective for future 
reporting years. Those applicable to the Institute for future reporting years are listed below. The 
transfer to the applicable new or revised standards from the effective dates is not expected to 
result in any significant modification of the measurement methods or the presentation in the 
financial statements for the following year from the known or reasonably estimable information 
relevant to assessing the possible impact that application of the new or revised standards may 
have on the Institute’s financial statements in the period of initial application. 
 

SFRS No. Title 

Effective date for 
periods beginning 

on or after 
   
SFRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended 

Use – Amendments  
1 Jan 2022  

Various  Annual Improvements to SFRSs 2018-2020  1 Jan 2022 
SFRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendment 

relating to Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current 

1 Jan 2023 

SFRS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments  1 Jan 2023  
Various Amendments to SFRS 1 and SFRS Practice Statement 2: 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
1 Jan 2023 

 
 

20. Comparative figures 
 
The financial statements of the company for the reporting year ended 31 March 2021 were 
audited by another independent auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
financial statements on 20 August 2021. 
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